Centre for Research into Environment and Health

Silver: water disinfection and toxicity

Dr Lorna Fewtrell Spring 2014

Contents

Contents

List of abbreviations

- 1. Background
- 2. Introduction
 - 2.1 Antimicrobial properties
 - 2.2 Nanoparticles
 - 2.3 Water-related applications
- 3. Water disinfection efficacy
 - 3.1 Ionic silver applications
 - 3.1.1 Efficacy of ionic silver for disinfection of potable water
 - 3.1.2 Copper/silver applications
 - 3.2 Silver nanoparticle applications
 - 3.3 Silver-coated ceramic filter applications
- 4. Silver toxicity
 - 4.1 Absorption, distribution and excretion
 - 4.1.1 Inhalation studies
 - 4.1.2 Ingestion studies
 - 4.1.3 Injection studies
 - 4.1.4 Human exposure
 - 4.2 In vivo toxicity
 - 4.2.1 Inhalation
 - 4.2.2 Ingestion
 - 4.2.3 Dermal
 - 4.3 In vitro toxicity
 - 4.3.1 Liver
 - 4.3.2 Lung
 - 4.3.3 Brain and the blood-brain-barrier
 - 4.3.4 Gut
 - 4.3.5 Kidney
 - 4.3.6 Blood
 - 4.3.7 Skin
 - 4.3.8 Macrophages
- 5. Quality of evidence
- 6. Discussion
 - 6.1 Efficacy
 - 6.2 Toxicity
 - 6.2.1 AgNP
 - 6.2.2 In vitro toxicity
 - 6.2.3 *In vitro* to *in vivo* extrapolations
 - 6.2.4 In vivo toxicity
 - 6.3 Guidelines and regulations
 - 6.4 Environmental considerations
- 7. Conclusions
- 8. References

Appendix 1: Disinfectant mode of action

List of abbreviations

Ag	silver
AgCl	silver chloride
AgNO₃	silver nitrate
AgNP	silver nanoparticles
CICAD	concise international chemical assessment document
DLS	direct light scattering
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
EC ₅₀	half maximal effective dose
GSH	glutathione
HRT	hydraulic retention time
ic	initial concentration
IC ₅₀	half maximal inhibitory concentration
LC ₅₀	median lethal dose – dose required to kill half the members of a test population after a specified test duration
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
MIC	minimum inhibitory concentration
NO	nitric oxide
PCNA	proliferating cell nuclear antigen
POU	point-of-use
PVP	polyvinylpyrrolidone
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SOD	superoxide dismutase
TEM	transmission electron microscopy

1. Background

This literature review, on the use of silver (Ag) as a water disinfectant and the toxicity of silver, is designed as a background document (based on a literature review up to the end of July 2013) for the Expert Working Group on Drinking-water Guidelines and to provide the basis for the development of a short factsheet. The report considers both ionic silver, silver nanoparticles (AgNP) and copper/silver applications. The aim is to look at the literature to determine:

- Is silver an effective water disinfectant (does it work)?
- Is silver toxic (does it do you harm)?
- Is there enough evidence to make a judgement on the above?

2. Introduction

2.1 Antimicrobial properties

Silver has been known to have antibacterial properties since Roman times, however, the increased use of nanosilver in a range of (as yet largely) experimental drinking-water treatment systems, its use in conjunction with ceramic filters and its perceived potential to be a water disinfectant that does not result in disinfection by-products (DBP) in the treated water have raised the profile of this chemical.

Silver and AgNP have been shown to have general (i.e. not specifically water disinfection related) anti-bacterial properties against a range of both Gram-negative (e.g. *Acinetobacter, Escherichia, Pseudomonas, Salmonella* and *Vibrio*) and Gram-positive bacteria (e.g. *Bacillus, Clostridium, Enterococcus, Listeria, Staphylococcus* and *Streptococcus*) – Wijnhoven *et al.* (2009). Some researchers have also demonstrated that fungi, such as *Aspergillus niger, Candida albicans* and *Saccharomyces cerevisia*, are sensitive to silver (reviewed by Marambio-Jones and Hoek, 2010). In addition, a number of studies have suggested a biocidal action of AgNP against hepatitis B virus (Lu *et al.*, 2008), HIV-1 (Elechiguerra *et al.*, 2005), syncital virus (Sun *et al.*, 2008) and murine norovirus (De Gusseme *et al.*, 2010).

2.2 Nanoparticles

According to a review issued by the European Commission (2013) and cited by Bondarenko *et al.* (2013), nanomaterial is defined as "a natural, incidental or manufactured material containing particles, in an unbound state or as an aggregate or as an agglomerate and where, for 50% or more of the particles in the number size distribution, one or more of the external dimensions is in the size range 1-100nm." In the scientific literature, nanoparticles are usually defined as particles having one or more dimensions in the order of 100nm or less (Moore *et al.*, 2006). Although the terminology may be relatively new, the use of AgNP is not (Nowack *et al.*, 2011), with the first report of nanosilver probably being in 1889, when Lea reported the synthesis of a citrate-stabilised silver colloid (which has an average particle size between 7 and 9nm).

The most common method of producing AgNP is the chemical reduction of a silver salt (often AgNO₃) dissolved in water with a reducing compound such as sodium borohydride, citrate, glucose, hydrazine and ascorbate (Marambio-Jones and Hoek, 2010). There is, however, an almost bewildering array of different manufacturing methods (including spark discharging, electrochemical reduction, solution irradiation and cryochemical synthesis) some of which have been outlined by Marambio-Jones and Hoek (2010). In addition to different manufacturing methods, different capping or stabilising agents may be used; these are generally used to prevent the AgNP from aggregating or agglomerating (Ema *et al.*, 2010) and common examples include polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP) and citrate (Völker *et al.*, 2013). The different methods employed in the manufacturing process result in

AgNP with different sizes (typically <50nm), shapes (e.g. spheres, rods and cubes) and characteristics.

2.3 Water-related applications

In terms of water-disinfection-related applications, silver is most commonly used in domestic water filters (either to reduce the level of biofilm growth within the filter or as an additional level of treatment). It is also quite commonly used in conjunction with copper ionization as a preventative measure against colonization of *Legionella* spp. in hospital hot water systems. AgNP are currently being tested in a number of experimental point-of-use (POU) treatment systems and ionic silver has been investigated for its potential for use as a secondary disinfectant (to reduce levels of chlorine) in drinking-water supplies. Silver ions (in combination with both copper and chlorine) have also been investigated for use in swimming pool disinfection.

3. Water disinfection efficacy

Numerous studies have been conducted on the disinfection efficacy of silver and AgNP applications against a range of microorganisms found in water. Although the majority of these have focused on bacterial disinfection, some have also looked at the impact on bacteriophages and viruses. In addition to the material below, which focuses on water disinfection, there is also a short section (Appendix 1) on the general disinfectant mode of action of Ag and AgNP.

3.1 Ionic silver applications

3.1.1 Efficacy of ionic silver for disinfection of potable water

In the studies outlined below silver ion (Ag⁺) efficacy (generated from silver salts [AgNO₃, AgCl] or produced electrolytically) was tested against a range of bacteria and the inactivation was principally assessed by the log reduction in bacterial numbers. Initial bacterial concentrations ranged from 3.5 cells/ml up to 1.5×10^7 cells/ml.

Hwang *et al.* (2007) looked at the efficacy of silver ions (up to $100\mu g/l$), derived from silver nitrate, against *Legionella pneumophila*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Escherichia coli* (all at 1.5×10^7 cells/ml) in synthetic drinking-water (pH 7, temperature 25 °C). After a three hour contact time with the highest concentration of silver the following log reductions were reported:

- 2.4 log reduction L. pneumophila;
- 4 log reduction P. aeruginosa;
- 7 log reduction *E. coli*.

Similar work was conducted by Huang *et al.* (2008), where the efficacy of silver ions, derived from AgCl, against 3 x 10⁶ cfu/ml of *P. aeruginosa*, *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia* and *Acinetobacter baumannii* was investigated. A 5 log reduction in *P. aeruginosa* was seen with 80µg/l Ag (the highest concentration used) after 12 hours. *S. maltophilia* was more sensitive to Ag, with a 5 log reduction seen after 6 hours when exposed to 80µg/l. For *A. baumannii*, however, a 5 log reduction was only seen after 72 hours exposure to 80µg/l Ag.

Silvestry-Rodriguez *et al.* (2007) investigated the inactivation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Aeromonas hydrophila* by silver in tap water, with a view to assessing the possibility for using silver as a secondary disinfectant to replace or reduce the level of chlorine. Dechlorinated municipal water (obtained from a groundwater source) was seeded with 10^6 cfu/ml bacteria and silver nitrate added to a concentration of 100 µg/l. Experiments were performed at pH 7 and pH 9 at 24 °C for both bacterial species and at 4 °C for *P. aeruginosa*. In addition, 3 mg/l humic acid was added to the dechlorinated tap water (to simulate a surface water source). Inactivation of the bacteria was time

and temperature dependent and after 8 to 9 hours of exposure to $100 \mu g/l$ silver at 24 °C, there was more than a 6 log reduction in both bacteria (at 4 °C a 4.5 log reduction in *P. aeruginosa* was seen only after 24 hours). Silver was found to be almost as effective in reducing bacteria in the presence of humic acid (5.5 log reduction in *P. aeruginosa* at pH 7, 24 °C after 8 hours in the presence of 3mg/l humic acid). This group also looked at the potential for exposure to silver (100 $\mu g/l$) to reduce biofilm formation in drinking-water distribution systems (Silvestry-Rodriguez *et al.*, 2008). In this role, silver was found to be ineffective, and there was no difference seen between the silver treatment and the control.

Cunningham *et al.* (2008) used flow cytometry to examine the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) of AgNO₃ on *E. coli*, with a view to the methodology being used to examine water and wastewater disinfection. They reported a 24 hour MIC of between 60 and $80\mu g/l$ for silver. A 4 log reduction (approximately) was seen at $100\mu g/l$ after 24 hours of exposure.

Pathak and Gopal (2012) evaluated the efficacy of silver ions against *E. coli*. Bacteria (concentration - 1.75×10^3 cfu/ml) were exposed to various concentrations of silver ions (1, 2, 5, 10 and 20 µg/l), produced from silver electrodes, for up to 60 minutes. Complete bacterial inactivation was seen at neutral pH and ambient temperature after a 20 minute period for the 20 µg/l concentration. 100% bactericidal activity was also seen for the other silver concentrations (with the exception of 1 µg/l), although a longer contact time was required (10 µg/l – 40 minutes; 5 µg/l – 50 minutes; 2 µg/l – 60 minutes). Disinfection was most efficient at pH values between 8 and 9 and at temperatures greater than 20 °C.

Nawaz et al. (2012) looked at the efficacy of silver (AgNO₃) in removing P. aeruginosa and E. coli in rooftop harvested rainwater supplies. Prior to disinfection, samples were found to contain between 350-440 cfu/100ml P. aeruginosa and 740-920 cfu/100ml E. coli. The disinfection rate and residual effect of silver was determined using final silver concentrations between 10-100 μ g/l over a period of up to 168 hours. Samples were taken for microbial analysis every two hours for 14 hours after the application of silver and then daily for 1 week, to examine regrowth. At higher concentrations (80-100 µg/l) complete inactivation of both microorganisms was seen in 10 hours, with no regrowth of E. coli seen after 168 hours. Inactivation was slower at lower concentrations (95-99% inactivation for silver concentrations between 10-40 µg/l after 14 hours) and regrowth was also observed (e.g. 7.5% survival of *P. aeruginosa* exposed to 10µg/l silver for 168 hours compared to approximately 4.5% survival at 14 hours), thus, at the lower concentrations, silver only delayed bacterial reproduction and did not cause permanent damage. Adler et al. (2013) also looked at the effectiveness of silver disinfection as part of rainwater harvesting treatment. Ten rainwater harvesting systems in Mexico, equipped with silver electrodes were evaluated for a number of water quality parameters. The silver electrodes were located in line with the filtering system (after a mesh filter, designed to remove large particles, and before an activated carbon filter). On average, the ionisers reduced the level of total coliforms by approximately 1 log and E. coli by approximately 0.4 log and resulted in a silver concentration of approximately 0.01mg/l in the final water. The systems, as a whole, delivered water containing zero E. coli and less than 10/100ml total coliforms.

In a comparative study of disinfectants, the potency of silver ions, derived from AgNO₃, was examined in a batch disinfection test of ground water using 10⁶ cfu/ml *E. coli* (Patil *et al.*, 2013). It was found that for a 6 log reduction (i.e. complete inactivation), the minimum concentration of silver required was 10mg/l with a contact time 3 hours.

It can be seen from these studies that log reductions varied widely with some bacteria being more sensitive to silver (i.e. more easily killed or inactivated) than others. Generally, relatively long contact times were required to effectively reduce bacterial concentrations (e.g. 3 hours or longer), the exception being the study of Pathak and Gopal (2012) where silver ions were generated electrolytically (rather than from silver salts), and complete inactivation (3 log) was seen after 20

minutes at a relatively low silver concentration $(20\mu g/l)$. In contrast to the lab spiked samples, where generally good log reductions were reported, relatively poor results (lower log reductions) were seen in harvested rainwater samples (low initial bacterial concentration) used by Nawaz *et al.* (2012) and they suggested that this may result from greater resistance to disinfection in microbes grown in low nutrient systems.

3.1.2 Copper/silver applications

Copper/silver is generally applied to water as an ionization process, with the electrolytic generation of copper and silver ions, sometimes used in combination with a halogen (e.g. chlorine, iodine), although it may also be applied as copper and silver salts. Copper/silver systems are generally used for *Legionella* control (typically in hospital hot water systems) and have been investigated for the treatment of swimming pool water.

Hospital water systems

Copper/silver ionization is often used for *Legionella* control in hot water distribution systems especially in hospital environments. The studies outlined in this sub-section typically relate to systems that are in use and so tend to assess samples for the presence/absence of the organism of interest, rather than using laboratory tests to determine log reduction. It is generally considered that ion levels should remain within the range of 0.2-0.4 mg/l copper and 0.02-0.04 mg/l silver to maximize efficacy (Cachafeiro *et al.*, 2007).

Liu *et al.* (1998) looked at the intermittent use of a single copper/silver ionization system in the hot water systems of two buildings. 20 distal sites in each building were examined for *Legionella* before the start of ionization and then monthly after installation. The elimination of *Legionella* took between 4 and 12 weeks. After cessation of disinfection (16 weeks), re-colonization did not occur for between 6 to 12 weeks (depending on the sampling site) in the first building and 8 to 12 weeks in the second building. The control building (no ionization) remained positive for *Legionella* throughout the study period.

In 2003, Stout and Yu reported on surveys of the first 16 hospitals in the USA to install copper/silver ionization systems for *Legionella* control. Prior to installation, all of the hospitals had reported cases of nosocomial Legionnaires' disease and 75% had attempted other disinfection methods. Colonization of distal water sites with *Legionella* was much less frequent after installation (although it did still occur) and no cases of nosocomial Legionnaires' disease had been reported at any of the hospitals since installation.

In Switzerland, Blanc *et al.* (2005) found that copper/silver ionization was not effective at reducing *Legionella* in their hospital hot water system (90% of water samples were positive for *Legionella* before treatment, 93% positive after the introduction of ionization), although they acknowledged that the low concentration of ions (copper 0.3 mg/l, silver not reported) and the high pH (7.8 – 8.0) of the hot water may have explained the poor results. Ionization in conjunction with increased temperature (65 °C), however, was more effective, with the number of *Legionella* positive samples falling to 39% and the level of *Legionella* in the positive samples also decreasing (mean of 7.6 cfu/ml with ionization alone compared to a mean of 0.23 cfu/ml with ionization and a raised temperature).

Mòdol *et al.* (2007) found that while a copper/silver ionization system was only moderately successful in reducing the number of positive *L. pneumophila* samples isolated from the hospital hot water system (57% of samples were positive before installation compared to 16-21% after installation of the system), the level of hospital-acquired Legionnaires' disease dropped dramatically from 2.45 cases per 1000 patient discharges down to 0.18 cases per 1000 patient discharges.

Pedro-Botet *et al.* (2007) investigated the impact of copper and silver ionization on fungal colonization of a number of health care centre water systems after noticing that the number of

consultations regarding fungal infections in their centre had dropped markedly since the installation of an ionization system (for *Legionella* control). Samples from ionized water distribution systems (nine health care centres) were compared with non-ionized systems (seven health care centres). The prevalence of fungi was significantly lower in the samples of ionized water (29% compared to 77%) in both hot and cold water systems – with the most marked difference seen in the cold water samples (14% compared to 88%). A decrease in fungal colonization following the implementation of copper/silver ionization was also reported by Chen *et al.* (2013). They found a 40% reduction in fungal colonization during ionization treatment, with fungi isolated from only 2% of samples during this period.

Chen *et al.* (2008) looked at the efficacy of a point-of-entry copper/silver ionization system (designed to treat both hot and cold water) against *L. pneumophila* in a hospital water distribution system. Prior to installation, typically between 32% and 50% of samples were positive for *L. pneumophila*. In the first three months, no change was seen in the number of positive samples. When ion concentrations were increased (months 4 to 7), however, the number of positive samples decreased significantly to between 5 and 16%. Rates of *Legionella* positivity dropped further to between 0 and 5% after month 7. Mean positivity remained at 50% in the control (non-treated) sites. The ion concentrations varied between sampling sites and over the course of the monitoring. Mean levels were 0.16 mg/l Cu and 0.014 mg/l Ag, slightly below the target concentrations of 0.2 and 0.02 mg/l respectively. The authors note that, while the system did not completely eradicate *L. pneumophila*, no cases of nosocomial Legionnaires' disease were reported during the year-long study.

In a lab-based study Pianetti *et al.* (2008) examined the efficacy of various combinations and concentrations of copper and silver ions (from CuCl₂ and AgCl) and free chlorine in inactivating *L. pneumophila* in water samples (contact period of up to 24 hours). Three different water supplies were used, tap water, spring water and distilled water and were spiked with 10^6 cfu/ml *L. pneumophila*. Copper and silver ions (0.4/0.04 mg/l) did not completely eradicate the bacteria even after a 24 hour contact time at 22 °C. Using higher concentrations of copper and silver (up to 0.8/0.08 mg/l) produced varying results depending on the type of water, and the authors speculate that the physical and chemical properties of the water, especially its chloride content (which can combine with Ag⁺ reducing ion availability), may affect the copper/silver disinfection process. The combination of copper and silver with 2 mg/l chlorine was more effective than the chlorine dose on its own, suggesting a synergistic effect.

According to Lin *et al.* (2011) emergence of *L. pneumophila* with resistance to copper/silver ions has been documented in some cases, usually several years after installation of the ionization system, although hospitals where ion concentrations and *Legionella* positivity were monitored were less likely to report resistance problems. Recommended concentrations of ions for *Legionella* eradication are between 0.2 to 0.4 mg/l copper and 0.02 and 0.04 mg/l silver, although Lin *et al.* (2011) recommend slightly different concentrations of 0.2 to 0.8 mg/l copper and 0.01 to 0.08 mg/l silver, suggesting that concentrations towards the lower end of the range may be effective after the initial installation.

In 2012, five confirmed nosocomial cases of Legionnaires' disease and 16 probable nosocomial cases were identified in Pittsburgh, USA at one of the first hospitals to adopt copper/silver ionization for *Legionella* treatment in 1993 (Smeltz, 2012). The disinfection system has been blamed for the outbreak, but it has been speculated that it may have been lack of appropriate monitoring and control that allowed the outbreak to happen, rather than a problem with copper/silver ionization per se (http://www.specialpathogenslab.com/PittsburghVA_Commentary.pdf). Results from the CDC investigation, however, showed that the copper and silver concentrations were generally within the recommended range for *Legionella* control

(http://www.cdc.gov/washington/testimony/2013/t20130205.htm). All 11 samples assessed for

copper and silver ion concentrations grew *Legionella* (nine of which were positive for the outbreak strain).

Typically, it would seem that copper/silver ionization reduces the number of *Legionella* (and fungal) positive samples in treated systems; it does not completely eradicate the pathogen. This is to be expected, based on the results of the lab study by Pianetti *et al.* (2008) and the point was made by Cachafeiro *et al.* (2007) who, following a review of the literature, noted that eradication cannot be achieved by any method in isolation and that maintaining high temperatures in hot water systems maximises the effectiveness of the ionization approach. Despite the fact that complete eradication of the pathogen is not achieved, a number of studies have suggested that the implementation of copper/silver ionization markedly reduces the number of cases of nosocomial Legionnaires' disease. The observation of resistant *Legionella* and the outbreak in Pittsburgh suggest that ionization as a treatment system may, however, not be a long-term solution.

Swimming pools

Copper/silver ionization is also suggested for treatment of swimming pool water, although peerreviewed literature on its efficacy is sparse. Although some company websites seem to advocate the use of copper/silver ionization in isolation, it is suggested from the literature that it should be used with, for example, chlorine in order to maximise the disinfection potential and remove organic materials introduced by bathers (skin, hair, urine etc.) and from the environment.

Yayha et al. (1990) looked at the disinfection efficacy of copper and silver ions (0.4mg/l and 0.04mg/l respectively) with and without low levels of free chlorine (0.3 mg/l) on simulated swimming pool water, using Staphylococcus sp. as a test organism. In combination, the chemicals achieved a 2.4 log removal of the test organism in 2 minutes, compared to only 1.5 and 0.03 log removal for free chlorine alone or copper/silver alone respectively. The combined chemicals were also found to act more quickly on Staphylococcus sp. than 1 mg/l free chlorine (the generally recommended level). Similar work was done using E. coli and Streptococcus faecalis (0.46mg/l copper; 0.075mg/l silver; 0.2 mg/l free chlorine). A combination of chemicals was found to be most effective in reducing bacterial numbers – 3.5 to 4 log reduction in 30 seconds (Yayha et al., 1989). The copper/silver, low chlorine combination was also found to be effective against L. pneumophila, S. aureus and P. aeruginosa (Landeen et al., 1989). Yayha et al. (1992) also evaluated the inactivation of coliphage MS2 and poliovirus by copper and silver ions spiked into well water samples. Copper and silver (0.4:0.04mg/l respectively) were found to be far less effective at inactivating both viruses than 0.3 mg/l free chlorine, with inactivation by the copper/silver being at least 100 slower than the free chlorine. However, a combination of copper/silver and free chlorine was found to be more effective when compared with water systems containing either metals or free chlorine alone. Coliphage was found to be approximately ten times more sensitive to the disinfectants than poliovirus.

Abad *et al.* (1994), assessed the efficacy of copper (0.7mg/l) and silver (0.07mg/l) in combination with low levels of chlorine against a number of viruses (hepatitis A virus, human rotavirus, human adenovirus and poliovirus). The metal ion, halogen combination was effective against poliovirus (4 log reduction), but less so against adenovirus. Hepatitis A virus and rotavirus showed little inactivation and the authors concluded that the use of copper and silver ions in water systems may not provide a reliable alternative to high levels of free chlorine for the disinfection of viral pathogens. Viruses are known to show better survival rates when they occur as aggregates, rather than as single particles – divalent and trivalent cations have been reported to induce virus aggregation and hence enhance the survival. Abad *et al.* (1994) suggest that in their experiments, virus aggregation may have been induced by Cu²⁺ ions making the free chlorine less effective.

Beer *et al.* (1999) conducted a field test, using copper/silver ions in combination with low levels of chlorine in a municipal pool in the USA. Measurements of total coliforms and heterotrophic bacteria were made during a baseline period (normal operation of the pool, with a free chlorine level of 1

mg/l) and during operation of the copper/silver ionizer with a free chlorine level of 0.4 mg/l. Apart from a single positive sample during the baseline period, all samples were negative for total coliforms. The average heterotrophic plate count was lower during the test period compared to the baseline measurements (20 cfu/ml compared to 91 cfu/ml) but the difference was not statistically significant. Copper concentrations were, typically, about 0.3mg/l.

3.2 Silver nanoparticle applications

The potential of AgNP for drinking-water disinfection is currently being extensively explored, principally in conjunction with filtration. The medium or matrix utilised for the nanoparticles varies widely and includes coating on polyurethane foams (Jain and Pradeep, 2005), fibreglass (Nangmenyi *et al.*, 2009), copolymer beads (Gangadharan *et al.*, 2010), polystyrene resin beads (Mthombeni *et al.*, 2012), alginate composite beads (Lin *et al.*, 2013), ceramic (Lv *et al.*, 2009), titiania (Liu *et al.*, 2012), activated carbon composite incorporating magnetite (Valušová *et al.*, 2012) and bacterial carriers (De Gusseme *et al.*, 2010, 2011). As the focus here is on the efficacy of silver in water disinfection, only studies where this can be distinguished from, say, the filtration effect have been considered below. In addition to considering the log reduction of microorganisms exposed to the test material a number of studies also conducted zone of inhibition tests. (The zone of inhibition is the area on an agar plate where the growth of microorganisms is prevented by the antimicrobial activity of the test material placed on the agar surface).

Jain and Pradeep (2005) coated polyurethane foam with citrate-stabilised AgNP. The antibacterial efficacy was assessed by adding small pieces of Ag-treated or untreated foam to *E. coli* suspensions $(10^5-10^6 \text{ cfu/ml})$ and assessing bacterial growth after a five or ten minute exposure period. No bacterial growth was seen in the samples exposed to Ag-treated polyurethane, while the untreated polyurethane samples showed "substantial growth". In addition, no growth of *E. coli* was detected on agar plates beneath pieces of AgNP treated foam in a zone of inhibition test. A prototype filter was created using the treated foam, which was found to be effective at eliminating *E. coli* growth, but equivalent data are not available for untreated foam, making the contribution of the silver treatment difficult to determine.

Nangmenyi *et al.* (2009) looked at the performance of AgNP (<30nm) impregnated fibreglass during immersion and during filtration. For the immersion test, a silver impregnated mat (1% Ag by weight) was added to a 100ml *E. coli* suspension (10^6 cfu/ml). After an hour of immersion, *E. coli* could not be detected in the suspension. Using an *E. coli* concentration of 10^{12} cfu/ml, the AgNP fibreglass mat (1.8% Ag by weight) resulted in a 7 log reduction in concentration in five minutes. Antibacterial filters (5% Ag by weight) were fabricated and a bacterial solution (10^6 cfu/ml *E. coli*) was pumped through the filter at a flow rate of 20 ml/minute. *E. coli* were not found in the treated water (a 6 log reduction, of which the untreated fibreglass accounted for an approximately 1 log reduction).

Lv *et al.* (2009) examined the efficacy of AgNP-coated porous ceramic tiles. The ceramic was modified (using a coupling agent) to ensure that the AgNP were fixed to the material (rather than relying on weak forces of attraction). There was no obvious loss of AgNP when the tiles were exposed to water. Antibacterial action was assessed by exposing a solution of *E. coli* ($10^4 - 10^5$ cfu/ml) to pieces of the treated and untreated (control) ceramic; by conducting a zone of inhibition test and a flow test. After 24 hours, no bacteria could be grown from the samples exposed to Agtreated ceramic and, in the zone of inhibition test, there was a clear zone where no bacteria grew on the agar plate after 24 hours of exposure to ceramic. In the flow test using an experimental water filter (flow rate 10 ml/min), no bacteria, however, were detected in water filtered through untreated ceramic. The authors suggest two possible antimicrobial mechanisms, namely: (a) the bacteria are killed by Ag⁺ released from the ceramic; and/or (b) the bacteria flowing from the

7

ceramic are contaminated with silver, which prevents their subsequent growth. Silver measurements, however, were not reported from the filtered water.

Gangadharan *et al.* (2010) investigated the antibacterial effectiveness of polymer microspheres containing non-leaching silver nanoparticles by incubating various bacteria (*E. coli, P. aeruginosa, Bacillus subtilis* and *Staphylococcus aureus*, with concentrations of between 10×10^6 - 300×10^6 cfu/ml), with the beads for up to 24 hours. The beads were found to be effective against both Gramnegative and Gram positive bacteria, with bacterial counts reduced to zero for all strains tested, with the exception of *B. subtilis* (where a 3 log reduction was seen). Zones of inhibition were seen around agar plated beads for all of the bacteria tested. There was no bacterial adsorption or adhesion to the silver-containing beads.

Heidarpour *et al.* (2011) investigated the ability of AgNP-coated polypropylene filters to remove *E. coli* from water. 15 litres of distilled water containing 10^3 cfu/ml *E. coli* was passed through either uncoated or silver-coated filters at a flow rate of 3 litres/hour. After 7 hours of filtration and recirculation the *E. coli* level from the silver-treated filter was zero, while the concentration from the untreated filter remained at 10^3 cfu/ml. Scanning electron micrographs demonstrated *E. coli* cells attached to the surface of the AgNP coated filter. No AgNP particles were detected in the treated water. The reported bacterial removal is likely to be a combination of the bacteriostatic/bactericidal impact of the silver and the decreased pore size of the Ag-treated polypropylene in comparison with the untreated material (pore size of 1.3 µm and 9.9 µm respectively).

Dankovich and Gray (2011) investigated the efficacy of nanosilver impregnated paper for reducing bacterial contamination in water. The silver nanoparticles were produced *in situ* by the reduction of silver nitrate in the paper sheet. The bactericidal impact was assessed by passing model bacterial suspensions (*E. coli* and *Entrococcus faecalis*) through the paper and analysing the effluent water for viable bacteria. The average percolation time for 100ml of bacterial solution was 10 minutes. Plate counts showed up to a 7.6 log and a 3.4 log reduction of viable *E. coli* and *E. faecalis* (respectively) in the effluent compared to the initial concentration of bacteria (10⁹ cfu/ml) at the highest silver concentration (5.9 mg Ag/dry g paper). Of this reduction, less than 1 log was attributed to the filtration of the paper. The average silver content of the effluent water was 50µg/l.

Mpenyana-Monyatsi *et al.* (2012) compared the bacterial removal by a number of low-cost filter materials coated with AgNP. Various concentrations of AgNP were deposited on zeolite, sand, fibreglass, anion resin and cation resin substrates. In the first phase of analysis, the substrates were tested, using *E. coli* spiked water samples (10^6 cfu/100ml), to determine the optimal silver loading (0.1 mM). In the second phase, each of the substrates (with the optimal silver loading) was tested against *E. coli*, *Salmonella typhimurium*, *Salmonella dysenteriae* and *V. cholerae* in groundwater samples (all bacteria present at 10^3 cfu/100ml). The cation resin/silver filter was found to be the best performing, achieving 100% removal of all the targeted bacteria, with no re-growth over 120 minutes. The silver/zeolite filter was found to have the worst performance, with removal rates between 8 and 67%. The amount of silver ions eluted from the filter material varied according to material type and time, with high concentrations released from zeolite, sand, fibreglass and anion resin substrates within the first 10 minutes (maximum concentration 1.8 mg/l). The cation resin filter released the lowest concentration of silver (less than $100\mu g/l$ silver) in the eluent and, thus was found to be the best performing in terms of bacterial removal and silver loss.

Lin *et al.* (2013) synthesized and studied the efficacy of three types of AgNP-alginate composites for application as a POU technology for water disinfection. Alginate was chosen as the immobilization/delivery material because of both its natural abundance and biocompatibility. The finished beads were used to create porous columns and the bacterial removal abilities of the different beads were compared using *E. coli* (approx 10^5 cfu/ml). Two of the three bead types consistently removed all of the bacteria during filtration, even with a short hydraulic retention time

(HRT) and the third bead type produced a 2 log removal. Silver was also measured in the filtered water, again the three bead types produced different results ranging from 11-98 μ g/l to 4-22 mg/l (depending on the type and HRT). The authors speculate that the disinfection efficacy, despite the short retention time, is probably due to released silver ions or AgNP in the effluent, which continue to exert an influence over the test bacteria even after plating, although one bead type produced both low silver concentration in the filtered water and excellent removal/inactivation of *E. coli*. The authors concluded that the results suggest that the beads show promise, but note that long-term breakthrough studies are needed.

Loo *et al.* (2013) explored the use of AgNP in cryogels as a possible POU treatment. The AgNP treated gels were added to water containing 10^8 cfu/ml of *E. coli* or *B. subtilis*. After 15 seconds, to allow swelling, the gel was removed from the bacterially spiked (bulk) water and squeezed to recover the absorbed water. Gels with different silver contents (0 and approximately 20, 90 and 170 mg/g) were assessed. Significantly higher disinfection efficacies (5.4 – 7 log reduction) were seen for the 'squeezed' water compared to the remaining bulk water (maximum 2 log reduction). The highest log removal was seen from the gel with the greatest AgNP content (approximately 6.5 and 7 log removal for *E. coli* and *B. subtilis* respectively). Untreated gel was capable of less than 1 log removal. The silver concentrations being from the 90 and 170 mg/g gels; 59.6 and 36.4 µg/l respectively). The squeezed water contained both Ag⁺ (45-56%) and AgNP.

De Gusseme et al. (2010, 2011) have investigated the possibility of using biogenic silver for water disinfection, where bacteria are used as reducing agents for the production of nanosized Ag⁰ particles. In comparison with chemically produced AgNP, the biogenic particles were found to be far more effective at disinfection. In a spiking experiment using a bacteriophage (10⁶pfu/ml), biogenic silver produced a 4 log reduction after three hours, while the chemically produced Ag⁰ particles showed no inactivation. Using the same concentration of ionic silver resulted in a 4 log reduction, but only after 5 hours. The biogenic particles were also found to be effective against murine norovirus, with a greater than 4 log reduction after only 30 minutes. The capacity of biogenic silver for use in continuous disinfection was assessed following coating of an electropositive cartridge filter. Addition of the biogenic silver increased the removal of virus from 1.5 log, with the filter alone, to 3.8 log. Low concentrations of ionic silver $(3\mu g/l)$ were initially detected in the filtrate (up to 5 minutes); thereafter none was detected (De Gusseme et al., 2010). This group have also looked at the immobilization of biogenic silver to microporous membranes (De Gusseme et al., 2011). The system was found to be capable of achieving at least a 3.4 log reduction in bacteriophage concentration (compared to a less than 1 log reduction by the membrane alone). Silver was found to leach out of the system and initially levels of 271µg/l were recorded, but these soon dropped to below 100µg/l.

Patil *et al.* (2013) conducted a comparative study of disinfectants for use in household water purifiers and considered both silver ions (outlined in Section 3.1.1) and AgNP, using a batch disinfection test of ground water spiked with *E. coli*. As with Ag ions, AgNP (synthesized from AgNO₃ using citrate as a reducing agent) required a 3 hour contact time, however, a lower minimum concentration of active disinfectant was required (1mg/l).

The majority of studies considering AgNP for drinking-water treatment applications tested efficacy against bacteria, typically *E. coli*, with the exception being the work of De Gusseme *et al.* (2010, 2011), who considered the effects against bacteriophage and murine norovirus. Typically, good log reduction values were reported, with values up to 7 log reduction (depending upon the spiking concentration) for *E. coli* and, unusually, 4 log reduction for norovirus. Generally the AgNP test materials were effective in both test tube trials (where the silver-treated material is immersed in microbially spiked water) and, where tested, following filtration. Where reported, levels of silver in

the filtered water were usually below 50μ g/l. While a wide range of filter materials and different types of AgNP were combined in the studies outlined above the log reduction values, especially in the studies considered virus removal, along with the relatively low silver concentrations in the filtered water, suggest that some of these approaches may have promise for drinking-water treatment, particularly at the household level.

3.3 Silver-coated ceramic filter applications

A number of different types of silver-coated or silver-impregnated ceramic filters (using either AgNP or AgNO₃) have been used as point-of-use (POU) devices, typically in developing countries, for household treatment of drinking-water. Much of the literature on ceramic filter studies, however, has been designed to look at the effectiveness of the filters, rather than the impact of the silver on the effectiveness (e.g. Baumgartner *et al.*, 2007; Brown *et al.*, 2008; Clasen *et al.*, 2004, 2005; du Preez *et al.*, 2008; Salsali *et al.*, 2011). In addition to filters employing silver to improve microbial removal, domestic (and travel) filters may also incorporate silver into the filter to reduce biofilm formation, however, no published literature (in terms of silver efficacy) was found on this application.

Some early work on the efficacy of silver-coated ceramic filters was conducted by Lantagne, 2001 (although this was never formally published), and while some bacterial challenge levels are given (outlined below) units are not. Four untreated filters (i.e. with no silver coating) were tested against water containing unspecified levels of *E. coli*, total coliforms and hydrogen sulphide producing bacteria. Three of the four uncoated filters completely removed *E. coli* but none of the filters completely removed total coliforms or hydrogen sulphide producing bacteria. In contrast, three silver-coated filters were found to completely remove total coliforms (initial concentration [ic] 3108 – no units) and faecal coliforms (ic 1583 no units) and two of the three filters completely removed faecal streptococcus (ic 33 no units). In an assessment of six filters (three with silver, three without), the silver coated filters were found to completely remove total coliforms (ic 3000 no units), faecal coliforms (ic 250 no units), faecal streptococcus (ic 245 no units) and *E. coli* (ic 250 no units). The non-silver coated filters were less efficient and while all three reduced faecal streptococcus levels to zero, total coliform levels in the filtered water ranged between 15 and 300, faecal coliforms ranged between 0 and 45 and *E. coli* ranged between 0 and 45.

Van Halem *et al.* (2007) reported results from filter challenge studies with *E. coli, Clostridium* spores and MS2 bacteriophage for six silver-coated and six uncoated Nicaraguan ceramic filters (Table 1). Although the silver coated filter slightly out-performed the uncoated filters for *E. coli* removal, the difference was not statistically significant. There was very little difference in performance for *Clostridium* spore removal and the silver-free filters out-performed the coated filters at both time points for MS2 bacteriophage removal.

Microbe	Challenge dose	Log	removal
		Silver coated (n=6)	Silver free (n=6)
E. coli	10 ⁵ to 10 ⁷ cfu/100ml	4.7 to 7.2	2.6 to 5.7
Clostridium spores	10^3 to 10^5 /100ml	3.6 to 5.3	2.7 to 5.3
MS2 (1)	10^4 to 10^6 pfu/ml	0.5 to 0.7	0.8 to 1.4
MS2 (2)	10^4 to 10^6 pfu/ml	0.8 to 1.4	1.8 to 2.4

Tab	le1	: L	og remova	ls f	rom	coated	anc	l uncoatec	l ceramic '	filt	ters	van	Ha	lem	et	al., '	200)7)
			•									•						

The two MS2 experiments were done at different points in a long term study, namely week 5 and week 13. The authors suggest that the improvement in performance between the two time points may be due to biofilm formation.

Wubbels *et al.* (2008) looked at the bacterial removal efficiency of silver impregnated ceramic filters in extensive laboratory-based testing. Ceramic, candle-type filters with and without silver were compared for their ability to remove *E. coli* (10⁶ cfu/l), at two different flow rates, over time. Over

8000 litres of water was passed through each of the filters and samples were periodically spiked with *E. coli* and the log removal efficacy assessed (Table 2). Initially, there was little difference between the filter types with, generally, between 5 and 6 log removal seen in all cases. After passage of almost 5500 litres of water, however, the silver filters started to out-perform the non-silver filters. After over 8000 litres, log removal rates had dropped for both silver (log 2.2-3.2) and non-silver (log 1.1-1.2) filters. The silver concentration in the effluent from the silver filters ranged between 11.95 to 17.68µg/l at the start of the experiment to 1.72 to 3.65µg/l at the end.

Volume	Reference filter	Silver coated filter	Reference filter	Silver coated filter
filtered (l)	Flow - 6l/h	Flow - 6l/h	Flow - 3l/h	Flow - 3l/h
Start	5.1	>5.4	>5.4	>5.4
1000	4.4	5.5	5.5	5.5
2067	5.2	>6.0	6.0	>6.0
3452	5.5	>5.8	5.8	>5.8
4487	5.1	>5.6	>5.6	>5.6
5469	3.8	5.5	4.9	>5.8
6411	3.7	>6.4	4.5	>6.4
7390	2.7	4.5	2.9	5.6
8389	1.1	2.2	1.2	3.2

Table 2: Log removals from two untreated and two silver-impregnated ceramic filters (Wubbels etal., 2008)

Bielefeldt *et al.* (2009) showed that the disinfection efficacy of ceramic filters could be variable. In tests of untreated (2 filters) or previously heavily used silver-treated filters, log removal varied between <1 log to >4 log for both the untreated and heavily used filters. The initial filter run tended to show the best removal, with removal efficiencies of between 3.7 log and 4 log in the untreated filters and 2.9 log to 4.1 log in the heavily used filters. Re-coating of the previously heavily used filters improved log removal slightly, but filters still showed high variability between filter runs and the improved removal efficiencies were not maintained. As with the initial tests, the initial filter run was generally the one with the best removal (3.5 log to 4.5 log removal). It is not clear from the paper whether the short-term improvement with re-coating was statistically significant. Silver, however, was found to be important in preventing contamination of subsequent batches of clean water passing through the filter (levels of <20 to 41 cfu/ml in recoated filters compared to 10^3 - 10^5 cfu/ml prior to re-recoating).

Bloem *et al.* (2009) looked at *E.coli* and MS2 bacteriophage removal from filters with and without silver. Water was spiked with 10^3 - 10^6 cfu/ml *E.coli* or 10^3 - 10^4 pfu/ml MS2 and passed through the filters. 20 litres of water was treated daily for up to six months. Over the lifetime of the experiment the silver-treated filters outperformed the untreated ones with mean *E. coli* log reductions of 5.9 and 3.1 respectively. No difference was seen between treated and untreated filters in MS2 removal, with removal being uniformly low (0.5 log removal). As reported in some other studies, high variability in removal efficiencies were seen, with *E. coli* log removal in silver-treated filters ranging between 3.82 and 7.65 compared to 2.01 and 4.3 in untreated filters.

Brown and Sobsey (2010) found no significant difference in the removal of *E. coli* (challenge dose $10^4 \cdot 10^7$ cfu/ml) or MS2 (challenge dose $10^5 \cdot 10^8$ pfu/ml) between silver-treated and untreated filters. *E. coli* removals were between 2.2 and 2.3 log in the silver-treated filters, compared to 2.1 log in the untreated filters. MS2 removal was between 1.3-1.5 log in the silver-treated filters, compared to 1.6 to 1.7 log in the untreated filters.

Kallman *et al.* (2011) looked at *E. coli* removal and compared untreated and silver-treated filters with different pore sizes (according to the percentage of sawdust used in their manufacture). Although

the authors comment that silver improves the log removal values for the filters (Table 3), probably the only significant improvement is that seen for the 17% sawdust filter.

Table 3: E.coli log removal values for silver treated and untreated filters with different sawdust
content (Kallman et al., 2011)

	Log removal				
Percentage sawdust	Untreated	Silver treated			
4%	4.56	4.74			
9%	3.52	3.81			
17%	2.55	4.91			

Zhang and Oyanedel-Craver (2013) compared *E. coli* log removal (challenge dose 10¹⁰-10¹¹ cfu/ml) in ceramic disks with or without silver treatment. Silver treatment did not noticeably improve the performance of the disks (4.2-4.3 log removal by the untreated disks compared to 4.4 log removal by the treated disk).

Although some studies have suggested that silver treatment improves the *E. coli* removal performance of filters (e.g. Wubbels *et al.*, 2008; Bloem *et al.*, 2009), others have shown only small benefits, short-term improvements or negligible impact (beyond the filtration effect) as a result of silver incorporation (e.g. van Halem *et al.*, 2007; Bielefeldt *et al.*, 2009; Brown and Sobsey, 2010; Kallman *et al.*, 2011; Zhang and Oyandel-Craver, 2013). None of the studies has suggested that silver treatment improves the removal of viruses.

4. Silver toxicity

This section outlines the toxicity of silver via a number of possible routes of exposure (i.e. it is not confined to ingestion). The emphasis is on recent papers on toxicity to mammalian systems (*in vivo* and *in vitro*). Much of the recent focus has been on toxicity of silver nanoparticles although, in some cases, ionic silver has been used to provide a comparison.

4.1 Absorption, distribution and excretion

Exposure to silver leads to uptake by the body. This has been reported after:

- inhalation (Dong *et al.*, 2013; Hyun *et al.*, 2008; Ji *et al.*, 2007; Kim *et al.*, 2011; Lee *et al.*, 2010; Lee *et al.*, 2012; Stebounova *et al.*, 2011; Song *et al.*, 2013; Sung *et al.*, 2008, 2009, 2011; Takenaka *et al.*, 2001);
- ingestion (Cha *et al.*, 2008; Chung *et al.*, 2009; Hadrup *et al.*, 2012a; Hosseini *et al.*, 2013; Kim JS *et al.*, 2008, 2009, 2010; Kim WY *et al.* 2009; Loeschner *et al.*, 2011, Maneewattanapinyo *et al.*, 2011; Munger *et al.*, 2013; Park *et al.*, 2010a; Pelkonen *et al.*, 2003; van der Zande *et al.*, 2012);
- injection (De Jong *et al.*, 2013; Dziendzikowska *et al.*, 2011; Gromadzka-Ostrowska *et al.*, 2012; Lankveld *et al.*, 2010; Tiwari *et al.*, 2011; Wang *et al.*, 2013a; Xue *et al.*, 2012); and
- dermal exposure (Korani et al., 2011; Maneewattanapinyo et al., 2011).

4.1.1 Inhalation studies

Following AgNP inhalation (in various doses and exposure periods – summarised in Table 4) studies in rats showed that silver could be found in the lungs, liver, kidney, brain, heart, nasal cavity, olfactory bulb, eyes, spleen, ovaries, testes and blood (Ji *et al.*, 2007; Song *et al.*, 2013; Sung *et al.*, 2009; Takenaka 2001). In mice (in a single study) only the lungs were found to exhibit elevated silver concentrations after exposure (Stebounova *et al.*, 2011).

In addition, a study of intra-nasal administration of AgNP in natal rats reported concentrations of almost 20µg/g total silver in the cerebellum (the only tissue investigated) following administration of 1mg/kg AgNP (20-30nm) for 21 consecutive days (Yin *et al.*, 2013).

Animal	AgNP/ionic	Max [Ag]	NP size	Duration	Elevated tissue	Ref
Rat	AgNP	133 μg/m ³	15nm	6 h	Lung, Liver, Kidney, Heart, Blood, Nasal cavity, Brain, Lymph nodes	Takenaka <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2001
Rat	AgNP	61 μg/m³	12-15nm	6 h x 5 days/week x 4 weeks	Lung, Liver, Brain, Olfactory bulb	Ji et al., 2007
Rat	AgNP	515 μg/m ³	18-19nm	6 h x 5 days/week x 13 weeks	Lung, Liver, Kidney, Olfactory bulb, Brain, Blood	Sung <i>et al.,</i> 2009
Rat	AgNP	381 μg/m ³	14-15nm	6 h x 5 days/week x 12 weeks	Lungs, Liver, Kidneys, Spleen, Ovaries, Testes, Blood, Eyes, Brain	Song <i>et al.,</i> 2013
Mouse	AgNP	3.3 mg/m ³	5nm	4 h x 5 days/week x 2 weeks	Lungs	Stebounova et al., 2011

Table 4: Tissue silver accumulation in inhalation studies

Sung *et al.* (2009), for example, exposed rats to low (49 μ g/m³), medium (133 μ g/m³) or high (515 μ g/m³) concentrations of AgNP (18-19nm) via inhalation over a 90 day period. They found a dosedependent increase in silver in both male and female rats in a number of tissues (Figure 1), with the lungs and liver being the sites with the greatest silver concentrations. A significant gender difference was seen in silver accumulation in the kidney, with reported levels being three times higher in the female kidney, compared to the male, at the high concentration.



Lung concentrations at the high dose: males 14645ng/g wet weight; females 2058 ng/g wet weight

Figure 1: Tissue silver concentrations from a 90 inhalation study in rats (Sung et al., 2009)

Song *et al.* (2013) looked at tissue accumulation immediately post-exposure and also at 4 and 12 weeks post-exposure, following a 90 day inhalation study. They found high initial levels in the lungs (data not shown in Figure 2), liver, kidneys, spleen, ovaries, blood and eyes, with clearance over the recovery period (Figure 2). Although levels in the lungs dropped significantly during the recovery period (concentration immediately post-exposure in females exposed to the high dose – 5587ng/g wet weight to 1475ng/g wet weight after 12 weeks recovery) the post-recovery level was still significantly higher than the unexposed level (0.27ng/g wet weight).



Figure 2: Tissue silver concentrations in female rats exposed to the high AgNP dose (381 μ g/m³) in a 90 day inhalation study, followed by a 12 week recovery period (Song *et al.*, 2013)

4.1.2 Ingestion studies

Ingestion studies (typically via gavage) have found silver to be distributed to the bladder, blood, brain, heart, kidney, liver, lungs, muscle, small intestine, stomach and spleen (i.e. generally similar to the distribution seen after inhalation) – as shown in Table 5.

Animal	AgNP/ionic	Max [Ag]	NP size	Exposure	Duration	Elevated tissue	Ref
Rat	AgNP (CMC)	1000 mg/kg	60 nm	Oral (unstated)	28 days	Stomach, Liver, Kidney, Lungs, Testes, Brain, Blood	Kim <i>et al.,</i> 2008
Rat	AgNP (CMC)	500mg/kg bw	56nm	Gavage	90 days	Liver, Kidney, Lungs, Testes, Brain, Blood	Kim <i>et al.,</i> 2010
Rat	Ag acetate AgNP (PVP)	9 mg/kg bw 12.6 mg/kg bw	NA 14nm	Gavage	2 x /day x 28 days	Small intestine, Stomach, Liver, Kidney, Lungs, Muscle, Brain, Plasma	Loeschner et al., 2011
Rat	AgNO₃ AgNP	9 mg/kg bw 90 mg/kg bw	NA <20 <15- PVP	Gavage	28 days	Liver, Spleen, Testis, Kidney, Brain, Lungs, Blood, Bladder, Heart	van der Zande <i>et al.,</i> 2012
Mouse	AgNO ₃	0.03 mg/l	NA	Oral – drinking- water	2 weeks	Musculus soleus, Cerebellum, Spleen, Duodenum, Myocardium, Lungs, Cerebellum, Musculus gastrocnemius, Liver, Kidneys, Blood	Pelkonen <i>et</i> <i>al.,</i> 2003
Mouse	AgNP (bare)	1 mg/kg bw	22nm - 71nm	Gavage	14 days	Kidney, Testis, Liver, Brain, Lung	Park <i>et al.,</i> 2010a

Table 5: Tissue silver accumulation in ingestion studies

PVP – polyvinylpyrrolidone

CMC – carboxymethylcellulose

NA – not applicable

Organs showing the greatest silver deposition following ingestion tended to vary between studies although the liver and kidney were typically key organs. Generally, where tested, ionic and AgNP showed similar patterns of distribution (although with lower silver tissue concentrations following AgNP exposure, e.g. Loeschner *et al.*, 2011). One study (Park *et al.*, 2010a) demonstrated preferential tissue silver accumulation in mice exposed to smaller AgNP (22nm), as shown in Figure 3.





Van der Zande *et al.*, (2012) reported a generally rapid reduction in tissue silver concentrations following 28-days of ingestion exposure. In most tissues, silver concentrations were already significantly reduced (to below 50% of the immediate post-exposure levels) just one week after exposure ceased and approached a return to control levels in most samples 12 weeks after exposure. There were, however, four exceptions, namely brain, testis, kidney and spleen, where silver concentrations were still elevated after 12 weeks, with the brain retaining over 90% of the original post-exposure levels.

The faecal and urinary levels of silver, post-exposure, were measured in two of the ingestion studies. Loeschner *et al.* (2011) found very low levels in the urine (<0.1%) and reported slightly different levels in the faeces, depending upon the nature of the original challenge, with higher faecal levels from AgNP compared to Ag acetate (63% and 49% of the daily dose, respectively). The faecal excretion levels reported by Loeschner *et al.* (2011) are notably lower than those reported by van der Zande (2012), who reported that over 99% of the daily dose was excreted in faeces.

4.1.3 Injection studies

Although not relevant to food or environmental exposures, injection may be useful to consider for studying tissue distribution, as absorption is bypassed (and has clearly been demonstrated in the studies outlined above) and this can allow tissue distribution and elimination to be studied more precisely (Lankveld *et al.*, 2010). As with other routes of administration, silver was found to be widely distributed following injection (Lankveld *et al.*, 2010; Dziendzikowska *et al.*, 2012). Lankveld *et al.* (2010) found that following injection of rats with either 20nm, 80nm or 100nm AgNP, the AgNP disappeared rapidly from the blood and was subsequently found in all the organs evaluated (liver, lungs, spleen, brain, heart, kidneys and testes). They found a difference in distribution pattern, according to the size of the particle, with the 20nm particle being found mainly in the liver (followed by kidneys and spleen), while the larger particles distributed mainly to the spleen, followed by the liver and lung. Dziendzikowska *et al.* (2012) demonstrated time-dependent changes in silver levels in

a number of organs, following a single intravenous injection of AgNP (nominally 20nm or 200nm). They found that concentrations of silver were greatest in the liver 24 hours after injection and then decreased, while concentrations in the kidney and brain were at their lowest 24 hours after injection but subsequently increased and reached their maximum levels at the end of the experiment (28 days after injection). Both individual AgNP and/or clusters of nanoparticles were identified in the red and white pulp of the spleen, all regions of the kidney (inner medulla, cortex and outer medulla - but with preferential accumulation in the renal tubules), lung macrophages, brain and liver endothelial and Kupffer cells. Wang *et al.* (2013a) found that in mice injected with AgNP, silver could cross the placental barrier and accumulate in foetuses.

4.1.4 Human exposure

It is clear that silver (largely irrespective of the route of exposure or form) can distribute widely within the body and cross both the blood-brain and placental barriers in experimental animals. Silver, has also been found to be widely distributed throughout the body in exposed humans. Human data relating to silver ingestion is largely limited to a number of case reports where people have ingested varying amounts of colloidal silver, generally over a protracted period (Chung *et al.*, 2010). The most common presenting feature is argyria (Brandt *et al.*, 2005; Wadhera and Fung, 2005) where tissues become impregnated with silver sulphide, which forms a complex in elastic fibres; large amounts of this complex under the skin give it a bluish, grey-blue or (in extreme cases) a black colour. Generalised argyria results from increased serum silver levels and silver granules can be detected in all body tissues, with the highest concentrations found in the skin, liver, spleen and adrenal glands (Brandt *et al.*, 2005). Silver has also been found to cross the placental barrier in humans. Lyon *et al.* (2002) looked at liver samples, collected at autopsy, and found significant levels of silver (median 15.5ng/g ww) in livers of children under 6 years old. It was speculated that silver (probably from maternal mercury amalgam fillings) is accumulated from the mother during pregnancy and lactation.

4.2 In vivo toxicity

The research outlined below includes studies conducted on rats, mice, guinea pigs and a single study on human subjects. It covers inhalation, ingestion and dermal exposure routes. There are indications from this research that high doses of silver and/or repeated administration can result in signs of, generally, mild toxicity in some of the test species.

4.2.1 Inhalation

A number of inhalation studies have been performed, these generally use AgNP (typically 12-18nm in size) produced by evaporation/condensation of source silver using a ceramic heater (Ji et al., 2007) and expose rats or mice to different concentrations of AgNP over different periods of time, via whole body inhalation chambers. Whether toxicity is reported as a result of inhalation seems to depend on the duration of the exposure. With short-term exposure (up to 28 days) resulting in no significant impacts. Ji et al. (2007) found no change in body weight, haematology or blood biochemistry in rats exposed to up to 61μ g/m³ over a 28 day period. Hyun *et al.* (2008) focussed on the nasal cavity of rats exposed over a 28 day period. While they found an increase in the size and number of goblet cells in the nasal cavity containing neutral mucins in rats exposed to 3.5 μ g/m³ and 61 μg/m³ this was not considered to have toxicological significance. Sung et al. (2011) exposed rats on a single occasion to between 76 and 750 μ g/m³. The rats were monitored for two weeks following exposure and there were no significant body weight or clinical changes and there was no difference in lung function between the groups. Stebounova et al. (2011) exposed mice (via aerosol generation) to 5nm AgNP in concentrations up to 3.3 mg/m³ for 10 days over a two week period, followed by a three week recovery period. Although increased numbers of neutrophils were detected in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (at both zero and three weeks post-exposure) compared to the control group the change was considered to be "of little biological significance" and no pathological changes were seen.

In contrast to the acute and sub-acute studies, some of the longer-term exposure studies (90 days) suggest a toxic effect of AgNP inhalation. Sung et al. (2008, 2009) subjected rats to a 90 day whole body inhalation study, where animals were exposed to AgNP (18-19nm) at low (49 μ g/m³), medium $(133 \,\mu\text{g/m}^3)$ or high (515 $\mu\text{g/m}^3)$ doses for six hours a day, five days a week for 13 weeks. The main targets of toxicity were the lungs and liver. Bile duct hyperplasia in the liver was found to increase dose dependently in both male and female rats. Histopathological examinations indicated dosedependent increases in lesions related to AgNP exposure, including mixed inflammatory cell infiltrate, chronic alveolar inflammation and small granulomatous lesions. Test animals showed a reduction in lung function indicated by decreases in the tidal volume and minute volume. The authors investigated the possible impact of the increased silver accumulation seen in kidneys of female animals by measuring kidney function (based on N-acetylglutamate and protein concentration in the urine) in both males and females. No significance differences were seen, except for an increase in protein in the urine in males in the high-dose group. This group also looked at recovery from AgNP-exposed lung inflammation and lung function changes, by allowing the animals to recover for up to 12 weeks after a 12 week exposure period (Song et al. 2013). It was found that although some recovery was evident, an exposure-related lung function decrease in males (exposed to the highest AgNP dose) persisted during the recovery period. This finding was supported by the histopathology results which showed persistent lung inflammation in this group.

There was no evidence of genetic toxicity in male or female rats, based on an analysis of micronucleus induction from bone marrow, following exposure of rats to up to $515\mu g/m^3$ over a 90 day period (Kim *et al.*, 2011). Dong *et al.* (2013) exposed rats to up to $381\mu g/m^3$ for 12 weeks. Although they found a change in gene expression in the kidneys with, overall, male rat kidneys showing a higher expression of genes involved in xenobiotic metabolism and the female rat kidneys showing a higher expression of genes involved in extracellular signalling, this was not considered to be of toxicological significance.

4.2.2 Ingestion

There is a suggestion from some studies that, especially at high doses, silver may have mild toxic effects via ingestion, with the liver being the target organ. Although, while some studies suggest toxicity (Cha *et al.*, 2008; Kim *et al.*, 2008, 2010; Park *et al.*, 2010a; Hadrup *et al.*, 2012a), others found no evidence (Maneewattanapinyo *et al.*, 2011; Kim *et al.* 2013; van der Zande *et al.*, 2012; Munger *et al.*, 2013) – although the difference may reflect the type of silver administered or the dosing regimen.

Following a large dose (2.5 g) of AgNP (13nm) or silver microparticles (2-3.5 μ m) administered by gavage, Cha *et al.* (2008) reported focal lymphocyte infiltration in the mouse liver portal tracts, suggesting the induction of inflammation. They also reported nonspecific focal haemorrhages in the heart, focal lymphocyte infiltration in the intestine and nonspecific medullary congestion in the spleen in the mice exposed to AgNP.

In a 28 day study, Kim *et al.* (2008) investigated the toxicity, genotoxicity and gender-related tissue distribution of AgNP in rats. The animals were treated with 30, 300 or 1000 mg/kg AgNP (60 nm, suspended in carboxymethyl-cellulose). While there was no significant change in body weight as a result of AgNP exposure, some significant dose-dependent changes were found in alkaline phosphatase and cholesterol values in either male or female rats. This led the authors to suggest that exposure to levels of AgNP greater than 300 mg/kg may result in slight liver damage. There was no indication of genetic toxicity. In a sub-chronic oral study (Kim *et al.*, 2010) using 30, 125 and 500 mg/kg doses of AgNP (60nm as above) over a 90 day exposure period, the group found that there were significant differences in the body weights of the males exposed to the mid and high dose of AgNP compared to the control animals. As in the short-term study, the group also found significant dose-dependent changes in alkaline phosphatase and cholesterol for male and female rats. In addition, histopathologic examination revealed a higher incidence of bile duct hyperplasia.

In a 28 day feeding study in mice, Park *et al.* (2010a) found that AgNP (42nm) at the highest dose given (1mg/kg) resulted in some changes in serum biochemistry, with increased levels of alkaline phosphatase and aspartate transaminase in both male and female mice. Levels of alanine transaminase were also increased following high dose administration, but only in female mice. They also found that pro-inflammatory cytokines were increased in a dose-dependent manner. Minor histopathological changes were seen in the kidney (slight cell infiltration in the cortex), but not in the liver or small intestine following high dose administration.

Hadrup *et al.* (2012a) examined the oral sub-acute toxicity of 14 nm AgNP (stabilised with polyvinylpyrrolidone – PVP) and silver acetate in rats. Doses of 2.25, 4.5 or 9mg/kg bw of AgNP or 9mg/kg bw silver acetate were given daily, by gavage, for 28 days. The authors found no toxicological effects following AgNP administration. Following silver acetate administration, however, they found lower body weight gain, increased plasma alkaline phosphatase, decreased plasma urea and lower absolute and relative thymus weight. This group (Hadrup *et al.* 2012b) also conducted a metabolomics investigation (the concomitant measurement of a wide range of low molecular weight molecules in body fluids) of the rat urine on day 18 of the study. The analysis revealed differences in the urine composition of female (but not male) rats when compared to the control group. Differences were found in the levels of uric acid and its degradation product, allantoin. AgNP ingestion led to an increase in both metabolites, while silver acetate only increased allantoin levels. As both AgNP and silver acetate altered urine composition this suggests that female rat physiology was affected by silver ingestion.

Maneewattanapinyo et al. (2011) treated mice with a single dose (5000 mg/kg) of AgNP (10-20nm) by gavage and then observed the animals for up to 14 days after exposure. They found no mortality or acute toxic signs throughout the observation period. In addition, there was no difference in the percentage of body weight gain between the treatment and control groups or a significant difference in haematological parameters. Kim et al. (2013) found no difference in body weight, gross findings at necropsy or mortality in rats treated with up to 2000 mg/kg bw citrate-coated AgNP (10nm). Van der Zande et al. (2012) found no hepatotoxicity or immunotoxicity in a 28 day feeding study in rats exposed to AgNP (< 20nm non-coated; <15nm PVP coated) at 90 mg/kg bw or AgNO₃ (at 9mg/kg). Munger et al. (2013) conducted a study looking at human exposure (60 healthy subjects) to commercial nanoscale silver colloid in a single-blind, controlled, cross-over, intent-to-treat design. Two different commercial AgNP (colloid) solutions were used, one with particle sizes between 5 – 10nm (10ppm solution) and one with particles between 25-40 nm (32 ppm solution). With the 10ppm solution subjects were dosed for 3, 7 or 14 days (100µg/day – equivalent to 1.4µg/kg body weight – assuming 70kg adult), while for the 32 ppm solution all subjects were dosed for 14 days (480µg/day – equivalent to 6.8µg/kg bw). Subjects underwent metabolic, blood counts, urinalysis, sputum induction and chest and abdomen magnetic resonance imaging. Silver serum and urine levels were also determined. The authors reported that no morphological changes were detected in the lungs, heart or abdominal organs and that no significant changes were noted in pulmonary reactive oxygen species or pro-inflammatory cytokine generation. They saw no clinically important changes in human metabolic, haematologic, urine, physical findings or imaging morphology.

4.2.3 Dermal

There seem to be relatively few *in vivo* animal studies looking at the potential dermal toxicity of silver application (Samberg *et al.*, 2010; Korani *et al.*, 2011; Maneewattanapinyo *et al.*, 2011; Kim *et al.* 2013), although a number of studies have looked at the impact of silver impregnated wound dressings (e.g. Trop *et al.*, 2006).

Samberg *et al.* (2010) looked at the impact of AgNPs (20, 50nm) on porcine back skin. Pigs were dosed topically with solution of AgNP ($0.34-34\mu g/ml$) for 14 consecutive days and the skin evaluated for erythema and oedema. Macroscopic observations showed no gross irritation in the porcine skin. Microscopic observation, however, showed a different picture and the skin exhibited a

concentration-dependent response for both the 20nm and 50nm AgNP. Skin treated at the lowest dose (AgNP 20nm) showed slight intracellular and intercellular epidermal oedema, while that exposed to the highest concentration showed severe intracellular and intercellular epidermal oedema with severe focal dermal inflammation. AgNPs could be detected in the upper stratum corneum layers of the skin.

Maneewattanapinyo *et al.* (2011) exposed guinea pigs (via a small shaved area of skin) to either 50 ppm or 100,000 ppm AgNP (10-20nm) for 24 hours and then observed the animals for signs of toxicity for 14 days. Despite the high dose no gross abnormalities were detected nor were any significant microscopic changes observed and there was no evidence of penetration or infiltration through the epidermal and dermal layers.

Korani *et al.* (2011) conducted both an acute and a sub-chronic dermal toxicity study in guinea pigs. In the acute study, 10% of the body surface of the test animals was shaved and exposed to either 1000 or 10,000µg/ml AgNP, with observations after exposure for 14 days. In the sub-chronic study, the shaved skin of experimental animals was rubbed five times a week for 13 weeks with the same AgNP concentrations used in the acute study. In both cases a positive control was used, in the form of 100µg/ml AgNO₃. In the acute test, dermal dose-dependent changes were seen for AgNP, with reduced thickness in the epidermis and papillary layer. Histopathological changes were also seen for AgNO₃, but at a lower level than those seen for AgNP. In the subchronic test, toxic skin responses were dose and time-dependent and the impact of AgNO₃ was similar to that from the same dose of AgNP. Negative impacts from AgNP were also seen on the liver and spleen, including overproduction of Kupffer cells and degeneration of hepatocytes in the liver. The authors comment that, based on their results, exposure to >0.1 mg/kg (100µg/ml dose) of AgNP may result in slight liver, spleen and skin damage.

Kim *et al.* (2013) conducted dermal toxicity/irritation tests on rats, rabbits and guinea pigs using citrate-coated 10nm AgNP. Ten rats were exposed for 24 hours to up to 2000mg/kg bw and then observed for 15 days; no toxicity was observed. Similarly, no skin reaction was seen in three rabbits subjected to the same form of AgNP. In a skin sensitisation test using 20 guinea pigs, a single animal showed some erythema, suggesting that the tested AgNP could be classified as a weak skin sensitiser.

4.3 In vitro toxicity

There has been a marked increase in the number of studies looking at the *in vitro* toxic effects of silver (principally AgNP) in recent years, with a wide range of cells investigated, including cells derived from:

- blood (e.g. Zhang et al., 2013),
- brain (e.g. Haase et al., 2012a),
- bone (e.g. Hardes et al., 2007),
- cervix (e.g. Mukherjee et al., 2012),
- immune system (e.g. Pratsinis et al., 2013),
- intestine (e.g. Gopinath et al., 2010),
- kidney (e.g. Kermanizadeh et al., 2013),
- liver (e.g. Gaiser et al., 2013),
- lung (e.g. Suliman et al., 2013),
- skin (e.g. Samberg *et al.*, 2010) and
- testes (e.g. Ema et al., 2010),

along with stem cells from a number of different sources (e.g. Braydich-Stolle *et al.*, 2010; Hackenberg *et al.*, 2011).

In vitro studies covering exposure to cells derived from many of the target organs identified from *in vivo* studies are outlined below.

4.3.1 Liver

In the studies outlined below, researchers tested different AgNP (typically below 20nm in size) against six different types of liver cell. With the exception of the cells used by Arora *et al.* (2009) these were all secondary cells (i.e. cancer-derived or immortalized cell lines). Different tests were used to assess toxicity but, generally, at least one test of cytotoxicity was included. Results were expressed in a variety of ways and include measures of IC_{50} and LC_{50} .

In 2005, Hussain *et al.* showed that AgNP (15nm and 100nm) were toxic to immortalised rat liver (BRL 3A) cells. AgNP resulted in a concentration-dependent increase in lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) leakage and showed significant cytotoxicity at 10-50µg/ml. The MTT assay (used to assess mitochondrial function) also showed that AgNP caused significant cytotoxicity above 5µg/ml. In addition, the level of reactive oxygen species (ROS) was found to increase in a concentration-dependent manner and a significant depletion of glutathione (GSH) was observed relative to control cells.

Cha *et al.* (2008) exposed Huh-7 (hepatoma) cells to AgNP (13nm) and found little impact on mitochondrial activity or glutathione production. DNA contents in the treated cells, however, decreased by 15% and the expression of genes related to apoptosis and inflammation were altered.

Kim S *et al.* (2009) compared the cytotoxicity of AgNP (5-10nm) and AgNO₃ to human hepatoma (HepG2) cells using three different measures of cell viability. The MTT and Almar Blue tests assess cell metabolic activity, while the LDH tests assesses membrane integrity. The IC₅₀ values for the LDH tests in both AgNP and AgNO₃ were markedly lower than the other tests (Figure 4), suggesting that in HepG2 cell membrane integrity is more readily affected by silver than the tested metabolic activities (which is in contrast to the results of Hussain *et al.*, 2005).



Figure 4: IC₅₀ results for cytotoxicity tests in HepG2 following exposure to AgNP and AgNO₃ (Kim S *et al.,* 2009)

The finding that the cytotoxicity seen in all three tests could be prevented by the addition of Nacetylcysteine (a precursor for the synthesis of glutathione and, thus, an important antioxidant) suggests that the cytotoxicity may be due to oxidative stress. Nowrouzi *et al.* (2010) reported an IC_{50} value (based on MTT and XTT tests) for HepG2 cells exposed to AgNP (5-10nm) of between 2.75 to 3 mg/l, very similar to that reported by Kim S *et al.*, 2009. They went on to subject HepG2 cells to 0%, 1%, 4% and 8% of the IC_{50} value, and found significant impacts on indicators of oxidative stress at levels of 4% and above (increases in the activity of LDH, alanine aminotransferase and aspartate aminotransferase activity; increase in nitric oxide concentration; increases in lipid peroxidation and cytochrome c content; decrease in GSH content and a decrease in SOD activity). Kawata *et al.* (2009) investigated the effects of AgNP (7-10nm – stabilised with polyethylenimine) and Ag₂CO₃ on HepG2 cells at concentrations below those resulting in cytotoxicity. AgNP was found to result in significant toxicity above 1mg/ml (although Ag₂CO₃ still appeared to be non-cytotoxic at that dose), so a concentration of 1mg/ml was used in further experiments. At that concentration AgNP was found to significantly increase the frequency of micronucleus formation, indicating DNA damage and chromosome aberrations (Ag₂CO₃ did not increase levels above those seen in the control). In addition, exposure to AgNP also altered gene expression, including the up-regulation of stress-related genes.

Arora *et al.* (2009) also looked at the toxicity of AgNP (7-20nm) to mouse liver cells but, in contrast to other studies (e.g. Hussain *et al.*, 2005 and Kim S *et al.*, 2009), used primary cells. Exposure of the liver cells to up to 100µg/ml for 24 hours did not alter cell morphology. The onset of apoptosis was seen at 12.5µg/ml, which was much lower than the necrotic concentration (500µg/ml). The primary cells seemed to be more resistant to the cytotoxic effects of AgNP, with an IC₅₀ for the XTT assay of 449µg/ml (although, not strictly comparable, the IC₅₀ for the MTT test [similar to XTT] in human hepatoma HepG2 cells reported by Kim S *et al.*, 2009 was <3.5µg/ml). Exposure of the cells to AgNP at half of the IC₅₀ value resulted in increased levels of superoxide dismutase (SOD)and GSH as compared to unexposed cells suggesting that antioxidant defence mechanisms were triggered by AgNP exposure.

In a study in Chang liver cells, AgNP (5 to 10nm - 28-35nm in the cell culture medium) were found to be more cytotoxic (MTT test) than $AgNO_3$ (IC_{50} 4µg/ml and 8µg/ml respectively). AgNP induced ROS generation and suppression of reduced glutathione. The ROS generated resulted in damage to various cellular components, DNA breaks, lipid membrane peroxidation and protein carbonylation (Piao *et al.* 2011).

Gaiser *et al.* (2013) looked at the impact of AgNP (mean 17.5nm) on C3A cells. The AgNP were found to be highly toxic to the cultured cells (LDH $LC_{50} - 2.5\mu g/cm^3$; Almar Blue $LC_{50} 20 \mu g/cm^3$). It was also shown that hepatocyte homeostasis was affected, with a decrease in albumin release.

4.3.2 Lung

A number of studies have been conducted on the toxicity of various types of AgNP (different sizes and coatings) to lung cells *in vitro*. Typically either A549 cells (a lung carcinoma alveolar epithelial cell) or, less frequently, human lung fibroblasts (e.g. IMR-90) have been used as test systems. Generally, authors have found impacts on cell viability and demonstration of oxidative stress (Carlson *et al.*, 2008; Foldbjerg *et al.*, 2011; Li *et al.*, 2012: Suliman *et al.*, 2013). Other studies have also considered impacts on the cell cycle (AshaRani *et al.*, 2009a; Lee *et al.*, 2011; Chairuangkitti *et al.*, 2013). As with the results from studies on liver cells, there is an indication that size and coating of the AgNP impacts on toxicity (with smaller AgNP typically being more toxic than larger particles – Carlson *et al.*, 2008; Li *et al.*, 2012).

Carlson *et al.* (2008) explored the possible toxicity of inhaled AgNP using rat alveolar macrophages. The toxicity of three AgNP (coated in hydrocarbon) of different sizes (15nm, 30nm, 55nm) was assessed at various doses. In general, the 15nm AgNP showed the greatest toxicity and the 55nm AgNP showed the least toxicity (e.g. the EC₅₀ for increased LDH leakage was $27\mu g/ml$ for the 15nm AgNP and > $75\mu g/ml$ for the larger particle). The authors also found a significant increase in ROS and a correlated decrease in levels of GSH following exposure to AgNP 15nm and increased secretion of inflammatory cytokines/chemokines.

Foldbjerg *et al.* (2011) compared the toxic effects of AgNP (PVP-coated, 69nm, up to $20\mu g/ml$) and AgNO₃ (up to $10\mu g/ml$) on A549 cells. Both AgNP and AgNO₃ were cytotoxic (as determined by impact on mitochondrial activity), although the cytotoxic impacts of AgNO₃ (EC₅₀ - $6\mu g/ml$) were

seen at lower doses than those following AgNP exposure ($EC_{50} - 12.5\mu g/ml$). The measured toxicity of both types of Ag could be significantly reduced by pre-treating cells with antioxidant. It was found that cell death was primarily due to a dose-dependent increase in necrosis/late apoptosis, whereas only a minor increase in early apoptosis was detected. The AgNP was found to induce a greater increase in ROS than the AgNO₃. In comparison to the control, ROS levels were increased almost 16fold at 10 $\mu g/ml$ AgNP, but only approximately 8-fold by the same concentration of Ag from AgNO₃. This group (Foldbjerg *et al.*, 2012) also looked at the effects of AgNP (16nm) and AgNO₃ at low (noncytotoxic) doses on gene expression in A549 cells. Exposure to AgNP altered the regulation (2-fold difference or greater) of more than 1000 genes, compared to only 133 genes following exposure to silver ions.

Suliman *et al.* (2013) investigated the toxicity of AgNP (56 nm, 10-100µg/ml) on A549 cells using a wide array of methods. Morphological changes were clearly seen in cells exposed to 25µg/ml AgNP for 48 hours. The AgNP caused cytotoxicity, as measured by mitochondrial function (MTT assay) and membrane permeability (LDH assay). AgNP induced the generation of ROS and induced oxidative stress (shown by a depletion of GSH and increases in lipid peroxidation, SOD and catalase concentrations). Increased apoptosis following exposure to AgNP was seen, the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines was up-regulated and a concentration and a time dependent increase in DNA damage was also observed.

In addition to changes in mitochondrial activity, membrane permeability and increases in ROS generation (etc.), a number of authors have shown that AgNP modulates the cell cycle in A549 cells. Lee *et al.* (2011) showed that AgNP (hydrodynamic diameter 480nm) with an IC₅₀ of 106µg/ml for cell viability caused accumulation of cells at G2/M and sub-G1 (apoptosis) following exposure to 50µg/ml for 4 hours. Chairuangkitti *et al.* (2013) showed that AgNP increased the proportion of cells in the sub-G1 population, increased S phase arrest and caused down regulation of the cell cycle associated proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) protein. Pre-treatment with an antioxidant, while decreasing some of the effects, did not change the AgNP mediated impact on S phase arrest or down-regulation of PCNA, leading the authors to suggest that the *in vitro* toxic effects on A549 cells are mediated via a ROS-dependent (cytotoxicity) and a ROS-independent (cell cycle arrest) pathway. Asha-Rani *et al.* (2009a) looked at the anti-proliferative activity of AgNP (6-20nm, starch coated) in normal human lung fibroblasts (IMR-90). Electron micrographs showed that AgNPs were taken up by the cells and showed a uniform distribution both in cytoplasm and nucleus. Although the AgNP treated lung fibroblasts exhibited chromosome instability and mitotic arrest, the cells recovered completely from the proliferation arrest.

Sur *et al.* (2010) looked at the impact on toxicity of modifying AgNP with glucose, lactose, oligonucleotides and combinations of these ligands in comparison with bare AgNP on A549 cells. While the modification seemed to increase the uptake of the AgNP into the cells it also acted to decrease the toxicity, with the bare AgNP being cytotoxic at a lower dose than the modified particles.

Li *et al.* (2012) treated human lung fibroblasts (unspecified) with five different sized PVP-coated AgNPs (25, 35, 45, 60 and 70nm) at the same doses (31.75, 62.5, 125, 250µg/ml). Both tests of cell viability (MTT and LDH assay) showed size-dependent cytotoxicity which decreased with increasing AgNP size.

4.3.3 Brain and the blood-brain-barrier

The brain is essentially made up of two key cell types – neurons and glial cells (including microglia, astrocytes/astroglia and oligodendrocytes). A number of recent toxicity studies focusing on brain cell cultures, a model system for neuronal differentiation (PC12 cells) and cells involved in the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) have been identified in the literature.

Astrocytes

The ability of astrocytes to withstand Ag seems to depend upon the form of the Ag and the AgNP coating. Luther *et al.* (2011) for example exposed primary cultures of rat astrocytes to PVP-coated AgNP (70nm) for up to 24 hours (approximately 10µg Ag/ml) and found that while incubation led to a time- and concentration-dependent accumulation of silver in the cells, it did not affect the cell viability or lead to a reduction in cellular glutathione level. In contrast, exposure to a similar concentration of AgNO₃, was found to severely compromise cell viability. This group found that the AgNP taken up by the astrocytes remained sequestered in the cells following 7 days of incubation in AgNP free medium (Luther *et al.*, 2012). The same robustness to AgNP toxicity was not seen when rat astrocytes were exposed to smaller, peptide coated AgNP (20 and 40nm), where the AgNP were seen to induce a strong size-dependent cytotoxicity and an increase in ROS formation (Haase *et al.*, 2012a). In secondary astrocyte cells lines, derived from human glioblastomas, AgNP (starch coated, 6-20nm) were found to result in cytotoxicity and genotoxicity in U251 cells (AshaRani *et al.*, 2009a,b) and AgCl was found to cause oxidative stress in A172 cells (Simmons *et al.*, 2011).

Neurons

Some studies show that AgNP seem to be particularly toxic to neurons (Yin *et al.*, 2013; Xu *et al.*, 2013), although Haase *et al.* (2012a) found that in their study astrocytes were more sensitive to peptide coated AgNP than neurons. In rat cerebellum granule cells, commercial AgNP (sized between 20-30nm) were found to cause cytotoxicity, based on an AB staining assay, at very low doses – with a reported IC_{50} of 0.96μ g/ml. Cell-body shrinkage was seen after 24 hour exposure to 1μ g/ml AgNP and the AgNP were seen to cause oxidative stress (Yin *et al.*, 2013). Xu *et al.* (2013) found that 20nm AgNP caused cytotoxicity in rat cortical cell cultures at the lowest concentration examined (1μ g/ml) in developing cells and at 5μ g/ml in more mature cultures. The AgNP were found to not only inhibit the sprouting of neuronal branches and elongation of neurites, but they also caused fragmentation and degeneration of mature neurons. In contrast, Haase *et al.* (2012a) found that a significant cytotoxic effect of peptide stabilised 20nm AgNP was not seen until 50 μ g/ml and above on their rat neuronal-enriched cultures.

Neurodevelopment

The possible impacts of Ag on neurodevelopment have been examined using PC12 cells. PC12 cells, which are derived from rat adrenal medulla, stop dividing and terminally differentiate when treated with nerve growth factor and they are used as a model for neuronal differentiation. Powers et al. (2010, 2011) have looked at the impact of $AgNO_3$ and AgNP on these cells. A one hour exposure of undifferentiated PC12 cells to 10µM Ag+ was found to inhibit DNA synthesis and protein synthesis. Longer exposure resulted in oxidative stress and loss of viability. Ag+ directly inhibited mitotic activity. The same concentration of Ag+ was found to elicit even stronger effects with the onset of cell differentiation, with greater DNA synthesis inhibition and greater levels of oxidative stress. In addition selectively impaired neurite formation was seen and there was suppressed development of the acetylcholine phenotype in favour of the dopamine phenotype (Powers et al., 2010). This group have also looked at the effects of AgNP (citrate- and PVP-coated) in PC12 cells. In undifferentiated cells citrate-coated AgNP (10nm) impaired DNA and protein synthesis, but did not result in significant oxidative stress or loss of cell viability. In differentiating cells, however, the citrate coated AgNP caused oxidative stress and impaired differentiation into the acetylcholine phenotype. In undifferentiated cells PVP-AgNP (10nm and 50nm) reduced DNA synthesis; with the 50nm particle size have a greater effect. All three AgNP significantly suppressed the acetylcholine phenotype, but the small PVP-AgNP enhanced differentiation into the dopamine phenotype (Powers et al., 2011). The authors suggest that their results point to the likelihood that Ag and AgNP are developmental neurotoxicants.

Brain endothelial cells

Two recent studies have examined the impact of AgNP on rat brain endothelial cells (Trickler *et al.*, 2010; Grosse *et al.*, 2013). Trickler *et al.* (2010) used cultured rat brain microvessel endothelial cells as a model to examine the cellular accumulation, changes in pro-inflammatory mediators and changes in morphology and permeability following exposure to PVP-coated AgNP (25, 40 and 80nm in size). AgNP were found to accumulate in the cells in a size-dependent manner (with less accumulation seen for the 80nm AgNP). The cellular association of AgNP led to significant cytotoxicity and caused the release of cytokines and other inflammatory mediators from the cell monolayers. The changes in the pro-inflammatory mediators correlated with morphological changes and increased cell permeability.

Grosse *et al.* (2013) investigated the impact of citrate-coated AgNP (10, 50 and 100nm) on rat brain endothelial cells (RBE4). Based on the neutral red uptake assay (membrane permeability as an indicator of cytotoxicity), toxicity was seen for all of the AgNP examined, with the smaller particles being more toxic (effects seen at lower concentrations and after a shorter period of time). Exposure of the cells to AgNO₃, suggested that the ionic form was less toxic to the endothelial cells than AgNP.

4.3.4 Gut

A number of studies have looked at the impact of AgNP on intestinal cells, some of which have attempted to account for the likely effects of digestion or have used synthetic drinking-water as a medium for AgNP, rather than cell culture medium, to try and more closely simulated *in vivo* conditions.

Bouwmeester *et al.* (2011) used an *in vitro* model of the human intestinal epithelium (consisting of Caco-2 and M-cells) to study the passage of four different preparations of AgNP (nominal sizes 20, 34, 61 and 113nm) and silver ions (from AgNO₃). Concentrations of AgNP of up to 50μ g/ml (irrespective of size) reduced metabolic activity in the Caco-2 cells by less than 20%, while a concentration of 5μ g/ml AgNO₃ resulted in a 70% reduction in metabolic activity. Translocation of silver derived from either AgNP suspensions or AgNO₃ was clearly shown and the authors speculate that the translocation of silver is likely to be in the ionic and not the particulate form.

Walczak et al. (2013) studied the likely impact of digestion on 60nm AgNP (citrate) and silver ions (AgNO₃). The model comprised artificial saliva, gastric, duodenal and bile juice, simulating digestion in the oral, gastric and intestinal compartments with salt and protein composition, pH differences and transit times similar to human in vivo digestion. The AgNP, in the presence of proteins, were found to survive gastric digestion and reach the intestine where they were present in large clusters and co-localised with chlorine. The chlorine was thought to be involved in connecting separate AgNP inside clusters with 'chlorine inter-particle bridges'. Following intestinal digestion, the AgNP were found to be present in, essentially, their original form. Silver ions were also found to reach the intestine, but they were generally present as complexes of silver, sulphur and chlorine (20-30nm in size). The authors suggest that ingestion of AgNP and silver ions results in intestinal exposure to nanoparticles, albeit with different chemical compositions. Böhmert et al. (2014) conducted some similar work, subjecting AgNP to simulated digestion (both Böhmert et al., 2014 and Walczak et al., 2013 based their digestion model on the method described by Versantvoorlet et al., 2005) but then examining their toxicity to Caco-2 cells. Cells were exposed to primary and digested particles as well as a digestion fluids mixture without AgNP to act as a control. It was found that AgNP seem to overcome gastrointestinal juices in their particulate form, without forming large quantities of aggregates, and there seems to be only a slight reduction in their cytotoxic potential following digestion.

Hsin *et al.* (2008) looked at the impact of two different commercially available preparations of AgNP (1-100nm) on human colon cells (HCT116). One preparation (Ching-Tai) was found to result in significant decreases in cell viability after 24 hours at 50ug/ml, while the other (at the same

concentration) did not result in significant cytotoxicity even after 72 hours. Compared to the other cells examined (mouse fibroblasts - NIH3T3 and rat vascular smooth muscle cells – A10), HCT116 cells were relatively insensitive to AgNP.

Gaiser *et al.* (2009) looked at the potential human exposure to AgNP via ingestion of contaminated food sources. The looked at both bare AgNP (35nm) and 'bulk' Ag ($0.6 - 1.6 \mu$ m) on secondary intestinal epithelial cells (Caco-2) and human hepatocytes (C3A). Cytotoxicity was only assessed on the hepatocytes, with AgNP being more cytotoxic (LDH assay) than bulk Ag. Both AgNP and Ag were, however, shown to be taken up by Caco-2 cells.

The impact of AgNP (18nm) on gene expression in HT29 cells (and human kidney cells – see below) was explored by Gopinath *et al.* (2010). A concentration of 11μ g/ml (less than half of the concentration required to inhibit cell growth by 50% - Gopinath *et al.* 2008) resulted in changes in cell morphology and caused an 11% increase in early apoptotic population, 21% increase in late apoptotic population and a 7% increase in necrotic population. Exposure to AgNP resulted in an upregulation of apoptotic genes and a down-regulation of anti-apoptotic genes.

Kruszewski *et al.* (2013) looked at the impact of bare 20nm and 200nm AgNP on liver (HepG2), lung (A549) and gut (HT29) cells in terms of DNA damage and colony forming ability. They found a substantial difference in the cell uptake of AgNP, with uptake by the gut cells being markedly lower than the other cell lines. The authors suggest that this might be due to the production of mucin by HT29 cells which prevents NP uptake. The cellular uptake of AgNP was found to correspond to the formation of ROS and the subsequent pattern of DNA breakage and base damage induction was found to correspond to intracellular ROS formation.

Abbott Chalew and Schwab (2013) looked at the cytotoxic effects of uncoated AgNP (20-30nm) on Caco-2 and SW480 intestinal cells. The AgNP was not found to be particularly toxic to the intestinal cells when dispersed in cell culture medium (with LC_{50} values for the two cell lines greater than 100 mg/l). Far greater cytotoxicity was seen for SW480 when the cells were exposed to AgNP in buffered synthetic water, with a significant drop in viability seen after exposure to 1 mg/l. The authors suggest that the lower toxicity in AgNP in cell culture media may be due to the stabilising effect of foetal bovine serum in the cell culture medium.

4.3.5 Kidney

A number of different kidney cell types have been subjected to silver, these include embryo kidney cells, which are a heterogeneous mix of almost all the types of cells present in the body (although most are endothelial, epithelial or fibroblasts), proximal tubule cells (HK 2) and renal epithelial cells (A498).

Gopinath *et al.* (2010) used baby hamster kidney cells (BHK21) to investigate the impact of 18nm AgNP on primary cells. Cells exposed to 11μ g/ml (a concentration below the IC₅₀ value) showed altered morphology and a 9% increase in the early apoptotic population compared to control cells. An examination of gene expression showed that AgNP induced p53-mediated apoptotic pathway. Hudecová *et al.* (2012) exposed human embryo kidney cells (HEK293) to 20nm AgNP. Although there was clear agglomeration of the particles, the AgNP were still taken up by the cells and could be identified in vacuoles and cytoplasm. No cytotoxicity was reported after exposure of the cells to 100 μ g/ml for 30 minutes (based on Trypan blue exclusion), although there was a 48% reduction in proliferation activity and a 21% reduction in colony number at that concentration. No cytotoxicity (in any of the employed tests) was seen at concentrations up to 25 μ g/ml, although DNA damage could be detected even after exposure to 1 μ g/ml AgNP. Singh and Ramarao (2012) found that renal epithelial cells (A498) were sensitive to 44nm AgNP, with a significant reduction in viability (MTT and Coomassie Blue assay) at 1 μ g/ml. This group looked at five different cell lines and the kidney cells were the most sensitive. Kermanizadeh *et al.* (2013) looked at the impacts of a variety of

nanomaterials on renal proximal tubule epithelial cells. The AgNP (<20nm, capped with polyoxylaurat Tween) was one of the more toxic nanomaterials examined, with an LC_{50} of between 4.5-10µg/cm² (depending on the cell culture medium used). AgNP exposure resulted in a significant increase in ROS, interleukins 6 and 8 and evidence of DNA damage. Ionic silver has also been found to be toxic; with Simmons *et al.* (2011) reporting that AgCl caused an increase in the oxidative stress response in four out of five cell lines examined, including kidney cells - HEK293T.

4.3.6 Blood

The toxic effects of silver on blood have been studied by a number of groups, using a variety of different methodologies. Foldbjerg *et al.* (2009) looked at the toxicity of PVP-coated AgNP (69nm) and silver ions (from AgNO₃) on the human monocytic leukaemia cell line (THP-1). Cells were exposed for up to 24 hours and it was found that both AgNP and Ag+ induced apoptosis and necrosis (depending upon the dose and exposure time) and caused increased ROS levels after six hours. In the cytotoxicity test (Annexin V/PI) silver ions were found to be four times more toxic than AgNP (EC₅₀ 0.62µg/ml Ag+ compared to 2.44µg/ml AgNP). Haase *et al.* (2012b) also looked at the toxicity of AgNP on THP-1 cells. They used two peptide coated AgNP (20nm and 40nm) and found that while both AgNP were toxic to the monocytes, AgNP20 was more toxic. The toxic effect was found to increase with time, thus the IC₅₀ for AgNP20 at 24 hours was 110µg/ml compared to 18µg/ml at 48 hours.

Wang *et al.* (2013) used mouse erythroleukemia cells to study the impact of a range of PVP-coated AgNP (10, 25, 40, 45 and 110 nm) on mRNA transcription. At 1µg/ml (a non-cytotoxic dose) a large reduction in alpha- and beta-globin was seen. The shape of the AgNP seemed to be important as the spherical AgNP showed a greater impact on globin expression compared to the plate form and it was speculated that spherical AgNP may have a greater capability to cross the plasma membrane. Small spherical AgNP (10, 25nm) showed a greater inhibition of globin expression than the larger particles. The group demonstrated that AgNP caused a significant suppression of RNA polymerase activity and overall RNA transcription through direct Ag binding to RNA polymerase.

Jun *et al.* (2011) looked at the effect of AgNP on platelet aggregation. The group used human washed platelets as an *in vitro* test and rats as an *in vivo* test. In platelets, the AgNP (<100nm) were found to induce platelet aggregation:

- control 5.4% aggregation;
- 100µg/ml AgNP 28% aggregation;
- 250µg/ml AgNP 54% aggregation.

The aggregation was potentiated by co-treatment with a sub-threshold concentration of thrombin. Consistent with the human platelet studies, *in vivo* exposure of rats to AgNP (0.05 - 0.1 mg/kg by intravenous administration or 5 - 10 mg/kg by intratrachael instillation) enhanced venous thrombus formation and platelet aggregation. The authors suggest that AgNP may increase the prothrombotic risk in susceptible patients with compounding cardiovascular diseases.

Choi *et al.* (2011) used heparinized human blood to look at the impact of silver on haemolysis. They used four different silver preparations (two nano and two micron sized). Both AgNP preparations (citrate stabilised and bare particles) were significantly more haemolytic than the micron sized particles (equivalent mass concentration). The haemolysis was related to the release of silver ions (with the AgNP releasing considerably more than the micron preparations).

Silver nitrate, at various concentrations (up to 33μ M) was added to human whole blood and levels of GSH measured at time intervals (Khan *et al.* 2011). The GSH level was found to decrease in a concentration- and time-dependent manner in both the plasma and cytosolic fraction, with the

depletion suggesting that the AgNO₃ penetrated the blood cells and resulted in oxidation of the reduced glutathione or the formation of a silver-glutathione complex.

4.3.7 Skin

Most researchers have used cell lines (keratinocytes, dermal fibroblasts and skin epithelial cells) to look at the potential toxicity of skin application of silver, but the potential for skin penetration of AgNP has also been investigated in an *in vitro* system.

Skin penetration

Larese *et al.* (2009) looked at the penetration of AgNP through human skin using an *in vitro* test system that utilised abdominal full thickness skin obtained as surgical waste. Skin was essentially bathed in AgNP (25nm in size, dispersed in ethanol and diluted with synthetic sweat) for 24 hours. The experiments were conducted using both intact and abraded skin. Low, but detectable, AgNP absorption through intact skin was seen. As might be expected, penetration through damaged skin was five times greater than that through intact skin. AgNP could be seen (using transmission electron microscopy) in the stratum corneum and upper layers of the epidermis.

Skin cells

Arora *et al.* (2008) used secondary human skin epithelial cells (A431) to study cellular responses induced by spherical AgNP (7-20nm). As the IC₅₀ (XTT assay) was 11.6µg/ml, cells were subsequently exposed to a dose roughly half of that value. At 6.25µg/ml, cellular morphology was unchanged, but there were clear signs of oxidative stress, namely decreased GSH (~ 2 fold), decreased SOD (~ 3 fold) and increased lipid peroxidation (~ 2 fold). Comfort *et al.* (2011) also found indicators of oxidative stress in A431 cells after exposure to low levels of AgNP (10nm). In addition was inducing high quantities of ROS, AgNPs caused a disruption in the epidermal growth factor (EGF) signalling response.

Cortese-Krott *et al.* (2009) treated primary human skin fibroblasts with low levels of $AgNO_3$ (below that impacting on proliferation, mitochondrial activity or cell viability) and found that subtoxic concentrations (5-10 μ M) strongly increased the intracellular production of ROS (including superoxide anion radicles) and impacted on intracellular zinc homeostasis.

Samberg *et al.* (2010) looked at the cytotoxicity of bare AgNP (20, 50 and 80nm) and carbon coated AgNP (50 and 80nm) to primary neonatal human epidermal keratinocytes. If AgNP were applied to the keratinocytes unwashed, a 24-hour exposure resulted in a significant dose-dependent decrease in viability. However, application of the carbon-coated AgNP or washed AgNP did not cause a decrease in cell viability, suggesting that the toxicity seen in the unwashed AgNP is a result of residual contamination from the AgNP synthesis (in this case formaldehyde). Although washed AgNP did not result a decrease in viability, they were taken up and were found to be internalized into the membrane-bound vacuoles in the keratinocytes.

Zanette *et al.* (2011) found that PVP coated AgNP (25-50nm) caused a concentration- and timedependent decrease in cell viability (based on mitochondrial function) in HaCaT cells at concentrations of 11μ g/ml and greater. A long-lasting inhibition in cell proliferation was seen as cell proliferation was still showing a concentration-dependent decrease 6 days after the AgNPs had been washed out of the system.

Comparative AgNP (~ 65nm) cytotoxicity tests using HaCaT and cervical cancer cells (HeLa) were conducted by Mukherjee *et al.* (2012). They used a wide range of cytotoxicity tests and found that, in both cell lines, a measure of mitochondrial function (MTT) was the most sensitive test (HaCaT LD_{50} at 24 hours 51.8mg/l). After 24 hours, the LD_{50} values for the MTT test for both cell types were similar. After 48 and 72 hours, however, HeLa cells were found to be much more sensitive (LD_{50} 72 hours: HaCaT 30.4mg/l compared to HeLa 0.04mg/l). The authors note that a major difference between the two cell types is their natural antioxidant levels, with HaCaT having over 30 times more glutathione than HeLa and this could be an important factor in the different sensitivity to AgNP.

Srivastatva *et al.* (2012) investigated the impact of AgNP (size unstated) and silver ions (AgSO₄) on selenium metabolism in keratinocytes (HaCaT). They found that while there was no clear cytotoxic effect of AgNP (up to 10 μ M) or AgSO₄ (up to 1000nM) exposure on the keratinocytes, AgNP and Ag+ led to a dose-dependent inhibition of selenium metabolism. The authors commented that the decrease in selenoprotein synthesis could have significant implications in the defence against oxidative stress in the event of long-term exposures.

4.3.8 Macrophages

Macrophages constitute the first line of defence upon uptake of AgNP by humans and other mammals (Pratsinis *et al.* 2013). Macrophages function in both non-specific defence (innate immunity) as well as helping to initiate specific defence mechanisms (adaptive immunity).

Shavandi *et al.* (2011) looked at the cytotoxicity of AgNP (18-34nm) to murine peritoneal macrophages using an assessment of mitochondrial activity (MTT assay). A significant decrease in viability was seen at concentrations of 1 ppm and above after 24 hours of exposure. Significant reductions in nitric oxide production were seen at 0.4 ppm AgNP. Park *et al.* (2010b) also used murine peritoneal macrophages (RAW 264.7) to examine the impact of AgNP. AgNP with an average size of ~70 nm were dispersed in foetal bovine serum and cells were exposed for up to 96 hours to concentrations between 0.2 to 1.6 ppm. Cell viability (MTT assay) decreased in a concentration and time-dependent manner, with the lowest concentration causing significant cytotoxicity after 96 hours. The AgNP also significantly reduced levels of intracellular GSH at concentrations of 0.4 ppm and above. In contrast to Shavandi *et al.* (2011), Park and colleagues found that NO was significantly increased. Park *et al.* (2010b) reported that AgNP were ingested by phagocytosis, but that they weren't observed in the dead cells, suggesting that the particles were released back into the culture medium by the damaged cells where they were available for further biological responses.

Four different AgNP with a similar size (<10nm) and shape (spherical), but different coatings and surface charge were tested against two cells lines: mouse macrophage (RAW 264.7) and lung epithelial cells (C-10). The same pattern of toxicity was seen in both cell lines with, essentially, the AgNPs with the greater positive surface charge being more toxic. The macrophage cells were more sensitive to the AgNP than the lung epithelial cells (Suresh *et al.* 2012). Singh and Ramarao (2012) also found that RAW 264.7 macrophages were highly sensitive to AgNP (44nm) toxicity, with a significant reduction in cell viability (MTT assay) seen after 72 hours exposure to 3µg/ml. Of the six cell lines examined only renal epithelial cells (A498) were more sensitive. Interestingly, J774.1 macrophages were one of the more resistant cells line (significant cytotoxicity was seen at 30µg/ml).

Pratsinis *et al.* (2013) synthesised uncoated AgNP (6 to 20nm) supported on inert nanostructured silica and looked at the impact of silver ion release on the viability of murine macrophages (RAW 264.7). Small AgNP (<10nm) released or leached larger fractions of their mass as Ag+ upon dispersion in water and this strongly influenced the cytotoxicity.

5. Quality of evidence

In order to increase the transparency and improve confidence in the conclusions, it is becoming increasingly common to assess the quality of the body of evidence as part of the literature review process. A framework, which has been used by WHO in other areas, is the GRADE approach, which has been derived for use in a clinical/healthcare context (Guyatt *et al.*, 2008a). GRADE is an acronym for Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation. The GRADE system specifies four categories for the quality of evidence – high, moderate, low and very low – with the definitions shown in Table 6 (Balshem *et al.*, 2011).

The starting point is that randomized control trials constitute high quality evidence, while observational studies are low quality. A number of factors, shown below, are then considered that can increase or decrease the rating (Guyatt *et al.*, 2008b).

Reduce the rating:

- Study limitations (risk of bias)
- Unexplained inconsistencies
- Indirectness of evidence
- Imprecision
- Publication bias

Increase the rating:

- Large magnitude of effect
- Plausible confounding (which would reduce a demonstrated effect)
- Dose response gradient

Quality level	Current definition	Previous definition
High	We are very confident that the	Further research is very unlikely
	true effect lies close to that of	to change our confidence in the
	the estimate of effect	estimate of effect
Moderate	We are moderately confident in	Further research is likely to
	the effect estimate: The true	have an important impact on
	effect is likely to be close to the	our confidence in the estimate
	estimate of effect, but there is	of effect and may change the
	a possibility that it is	estimate
	substantially different	
Low	Our confidence in the effect	Further research is very likely to
	estimate is limited: The true	have an important impact on
	effect may be substantially	our confidence in the estimate
	different from the estimate of	of effect and is likely to change
	the effect	the estimate
Very low	We have very little confidence	Any estimate of effect is very
	in the effect estimate: The true	uncertain
	effect is likely to be	
	substantially different from the	
	estimate of effect	

Table 6: Current and previous definitions of the four levels of evidence (Balshem et al., 2011)

In addition, Klimisch *et al.* (1997) has outlined a systematic approach for evaluating the quality of experimental toxicological data in hazard and risk assessment processes. This is based on an assessment of reliability, relevance and adequacy, as outlined below (taken directly from the paper).

- Reliability evaluating the inherent quality of a test report or publication relating to
 preferably standardized methodology and the way that the experimental procedure and
 results are described to give evidence of the clarity and plausibility of the findings.
- Relevance covering the extent to which data and/or tests are appropriate for a particular hazard identification or risk characterization.
- Adequacy defining the usefulness of data for risk assessment purposes.

It is felt, however, that these aspects can be captured in a modified version of GRADE which can be used to assess the quality of all of the evidence presented (rather than using Klimisch *et al.* (1997) for the toxicology and a different method for the non-toxicological data).

In a USA, the National Toxicology Program have recently published draft approach for the systematic review and evidence integration for literature- based health assessments that is based on the GRADE approach (NTP, 2013).

The starting point in the modified version of GRADE is that experimental studies are high quality evidence (i.e. they are equivalent to randomized control trials). The quality rating may be reduced or increased according to similar criteria to those outlined in the GRADE process. These are outlined below, in the context of the current review (and the *in vitro* testing of AgNP).

Downgrading the quality rating

- Study limitations this is taken from the GRADE assessment, but also captures the 'reliability' element described by Klimisch *et al.* (1997). The study limitations will depend on the area under assessment but, as an example, in assessing *in vitro* toxicological studies of AgNP study limitations would include lack of assessment of AgNP agglomeration, lack of consideration of AgNP purity, use of one or only a small number of tests and lack of a positive control.
- Unexplained inconsistencies (GRADE) there may be good reasons for inconsistent results, such as the use of different cell types (primary or secondary cell lines, cells from different animals or tissue types) or using AgNP manufactured using different methodologies or using different capping agents. Where there are inconsistencies in study results and no clear explanation is provided by the authors, then the quality rating is decreased.
- Indirectness (GRADE) direct evidence comes from research that specifically sets out to answer the question in which we are interested. In terms of the current review and the question of whether silver is toxic to humans, any toxicological studies using animals or animal cells are clearly indirect.
- Imprecision (GRADE/Klimisch *et al.*, 2007) Imprecision might occur where there are studies with small sample sizes and wide confidence intervals in the measured outcome. It might also result from a lack of published studies (capturing the adequacy component outlined by Klimisch *et al.*, 1997).
- Publication bias (GRADE) this can be difficult to assess but should be considered when available evidence comes from a small number of studies, most of which have been commercially funded (Guyatt *et al.*, 2011a).

Upgrading the quality score

- Large reported effect (GRADE) this may principally apply to epidemiological studies, where it has been suggested that methodologically rigorous observation studies (initial quality rating of poor) may be upgraded where they show at least a two-fold reduction or increase in risk of effect (Guyatt *et al.*, 2011b).
- Dose-response gradient (GRADE) the presence of a dose-response relationship has long been an important component in showing a causal relationship. Many of the *in vitro* studies show that as the dose of AgNP increases the level of cytotoxicity increases (usually as measured by more than one analytical test).
- Cross species/population/study type consistency (NTP) although GRADE does not recommend upgrading the quality rating if studies show consistency (Guyatt *et al.*, 2011c), because the current evaluation also needs to apply to efficacy and toxicity studies (rather than solely epidemiological studies) it was felt appropriate to include this category and

upgrade the rating where consistent results are reported in multiple experimental animal models or cell types, different populations or study types (NTP, 2013).

The literature outlined in the principal areas relating to the efficacy of silver in drinking-water and the toxicity of silver have been subjected to this modified GRADE assessment and the scores considered as a whole in order to come to an overall assessment of MODERATE to LOW for the complete body of evidence.

6. Discussion

A review of the recent literature reveals that there is a great deal of interest in silver and AgNP in particular, both in terms of potential applications and toxicity.

6.1 Efficacy

In many of the studies reported in Section 3, it is often difficult to determine the efficacy of the silver component (especially in the studies outlined in Sections 3.2 and 3.3) as the impact of filtration alone is often not reported. In a number of cases, silver measurements in the treated water are not reported (meaning that it is not possible to assess human exposure to silver via this route).

Although an initial glance at the results suggests that silver may be a promising drinking-water treatment, there are a number of factors that need to be considered, including:

- the strong emphasis on testing against bacteria;
- the use of predominantly lab grown bacteria;
- the lack of consideration that silver may be acting as a bacteriostat; and
- no clear accounting for the presence of potentially toxic contaminants in applications using AgNP.

The majority of studies have used bacteria and, in particular, *E. coli* as a measure of silver efficacy. Where viruses were considered, the removals were generally poor or non-existent (with one notable exception – De Gusseme *et al.*, 2010 – which requires further confirmation). Although silver was generally effective at reducing bacterial levels (to some degree) the log reductions varied widely with some bacteria being more sensitive to silver than others. *E. coli*, an important indicator of water quality, seems to be particularly sensitive (with Hwang *et al.*, 2007, reporting a 7 log reduction).

Nawaz *et al.* (2012), showed relatively poor log removals of environmental bacteria from silvertreated harvested rainwater. The use of lab grown bacteria, which tend to be "*less virulent and hearty than wild microbial consortiums*" (Madrigan *et al.*, 2000) may overstate the effectiveness of treatment and it is suggested that further work should use more realistic testing regimens.

Very few studies considered the possibility of bacterial regrowth in the silver treated drinking-water (i.e. that silver is acting as a bacteriostatic, rather than bacteriocidal, agent). Where silver ions are present in the finished water then regrowth is unlikely, but this often was not analysed or reported.

AgNP can be synthesised in a variety of ways, some of which use toxic reagents. It is often not clear from the studies on AgNP applications whether adequate steps were taken to remove these contaminants before efficacy testing. Samberg *et al.* (2011), for example, investigated the efficacy of AgNP against a number of bacteria in culture medium and found that washed and unwashed AgNP had notably different minimum inhibitory concentrations (e.g. for the 20nm AgNP against *E. coli* J53, MICs were 64μ g/ml and $<4\mu$ g/ml, respectively). The additional toxicity of the unwashed particles was attributed to the presence of formaldehyde.

Given these factors, it is suggested that the efficacy of silver as a drinking-water treatment is, currently, far from convincing.

Copper/silver ionization is often used to treated hospital hot water systems as a defence against *Legionella* spp. and outbreaks of Legionnaire's disease. Although a number of studies have shown that where ion levels are carefully controlled copper/silver ionization can be effective in reducing *Legionella* colonization it does not eradicate the bacteria completely and some water characteristics (e.g. high pH) may decrease the effectiveness of the method. While studies generally suggest that implementation of copper/silver ionization markedly reduces the number of cases of nosocomial Legionnaires' disease, the outbreak of illness seen in Pittsburgh in 2012 is of concern and may suggest that ionization as a treatment system may not be a stand-alone long-term solution.

While the peer-reviewed literature on the use of copper/silver ionization for the treatment of swimming pool water is sparse, it does suggest that it is not generally effective against viruses and is only effective against bacteria in combination with chlorine.

6.2 Toxicity

It is clear than silver (largely irrespective of route of exposure or form) can distribute widely within the mammalian body and is capable of crossing the blood-brain and placental barriers. Tissue distribution varies between studies but the liver and kidneys seem to be target organs following silver ingestion. Drawing clear conclusions about the toxicity of silver and AgNP, however, is more difficult as the following sections illustrate.

6.2.1 AgNP

There are numerous different methodologies for the synthesis of AgNP, they can be produced in a wide range of sizes and shapes and stabilised with a variety of capping agents, and these factors alone make generalisations difficult.

Synthesis and capping

Chernousova and Epple (2013) have noted that the reproducible laboratory synthesis of AgNP is *"more difficult than expected"*. They relate this to the initial formation of the nuclei of metallic silver, which develop different morphologies and crystal sizes when reaction conditions (such as concentrations, reduction agent, temperature or presence of additives) change.

A number of studies have shown that the choice of capping or stabilising agent can change the toxicity of AgNP. Stevanovic *et al.* (2011), for example, found significantly less cytotoxicity (MTT assay) and induction of ROS in HepG2 cells exposed to 10% AgNP capped with poly- α , y, L-glutamic acid in comparison to uncapped (bare) AgNP. Lin *et al.* (2012) showed similar results for a range of different polymer stabilising agents, i.e. the capped AgNP showed less toxicity to mammalian cell lines than bare AgNP (interestingly, in this case, while maintaining a high level of growth inhibition against *E. coli*).

Size

There are a number of techniques for determining AgNP size, those most commonly used are transmission electron microscopy (TEM) and dynamic light scattering (DLS). TEM is useful to capture the size of the individual (or primary) particle, but it is limited as it can only be used to measure particles after they have been suspended and then dried (it may also be affected by the solvent used for AgNP dispersion prior to drying). DLS captures the hydrodynamic size and is performed in solution, but may be affected by the suspension media and how the sample was mixed, for example sonication intensity and duration (Choi et al., 2011). The size of the AgNP also depends on the medium in which they are suspended, with Bouwmeester *et al.* (2011), for example, finding larger hydrodynamic sizes for AgNP when they were suspended in cell culture medium, compared to

water. In the review sections and below, usually only the primary size of the AgNP has been reported to avoid over complicating the text.

Some studies have suggested that smaller AgNP are more toxic to mammalian cells than larger nanoparticles and microparticles. Carlson *et al.* (2008), for example, found that 15nm carbon-coated AgNP caused more toxicity than 50nm carbon-coated AgNP in rat alveolar macrophages and Li *et al.* (2012) reported similar results for PVP-coated AgNP (25, 35, 45, 60 and 70nm) in human lung fibroblasts. Liu *et al.* (2010) found that small PVP-coated AgNP (5nm) were more toxic to four different cell lines than both ionic silver (AgNO₃) and larger particles, as shown in Table 7.

Cell line	AgNO₃ (µg/ml)	AgNP – 5nm (µg/ml)	AgNP – 20nm (µg/ml)	AgNP – 50nm (µg/ml)
A549	3.62	1.02	9.96	14.31
HepG2	1.11	0.59	25.35	33.57
MCF-7	1.81	0.51	14.33	47.64
SGC-7901	3.23	0.92	50.94	112.03

Table 7: Median effective concentration (EC₅₀) for cell mortality in four different cell lines (Liu *et al.* 2010)

However, this does not seem to be universally the case as Powers *et al.* (2011), for example, found that larger PVP-coated AgNP (50nm) had greater effects on DNA synthesis and caused a higher degree of oxidative stress in PC12 cells than the smaller PVP-coated particle (10nm). Park *et al.* (2010b) reported greater cytotoxicity of 70nm AgNP in mouse macrophages than Shavandi *et al.* (2011), although it has been suggested that this may have been an artefact of the preparation method, which could have led to high Ag+, but reduced AgNP concentration (Pratsisnis *et al.* 2013). In a review of toxicity data on mammalian cell lines, Bondarenko *et al.* (2013) found that when plotting $L(E)C_{50}$ data for PVP-coated AgNP (to avoid coated versus non-coated toxicity issues) against the primary size of the AgNP, no correlation was seen (R^2 =0.1), plotting the data from Liu *et al.* (2010) resulted in a correlation of R^2 =0.4, while plotting data from just one study on A549 cells (Liu *et al.,* 2010) revealed a correlation of R^2 =0.81. This demonstrates how difficult it is to make generalisations about the toxicity of AgNP to mammalian cells.

Experimental quality

There are numerous pitfalls that await the unwary AgNP researcher. These include lack of characterisation of the AgNP, gradual release of silver ions from the dissolved AgNP following preparation, toxicity of the capping agent or suspending solvent, presence of biological contaminants, failure to account for possible contaminants remaining after the manufacture of the AgNP and interference of AgNP with the toxicity tests.

In order to improve comparability between studies it is important that the AgNP used are adequately characterised and it has been suggested that complete characterization of AgNP may include measurements of size distribution, shape and other morphological features, solubility, surface area, state of dispersion, surface chemistry and other physico-chemical properties (Park *et al.*, 2010b). Studies which go to those lengths are rare, but AgNP characterization is increasingly being reported and it is clear that where commercial AgNP are utilised it is not always adequate to rely on the manufacturers claims (Choi *et al.*, 2011)

Kittler *et al.* (2010) examined the toxicity of freshly prepared AgNP and previously stored AgNP on human mesenchymal cells. The aged AgNP were found to be considerably more toxic than those that were freshly prepared, with the AgNP that had been made up for 1 or 6 months causing 100% loss of cell viability compared with a 70% loss of viability seen in the cells treated with freshly prepared AgNP. The difference in toxicity was attributed to differing amount of released Ag ions. The authors

comment that some of the published discrepancies in reported toxicity studies may be explained by this observation.

Oostingh *et al.* (2011) investigated a number of possible issues relating to toxicity testing of nanoparticles. Some of the agents used to stabilise AgNP may have a toxic effect in their own right, with citrate, for example (a common capping agent) exerting a dose-dependent cytotoxic effect on BEAS-2B human primary lung cells. They also looked at biological contamination which may be important when studying immunomodulating/immunotoxic effects. Although the nanoparticles they used were sterile (i.e. devoid of live bacterial contamination), they found that both the nanoparticles and their solvents contained variable levels of endotoxin (to which many immune cells are especially sensitive).

A number of traditional measures of cytotoxicity rely on optically based tests, but it has been shown that nanoparticles can interfere with these tests. Small nanoparticles (4-15nm) have been shown to absorb at the wavelengths typically used in most biological assay readouts (this could suggest improved viability), while some nanoparticles can inhibit colour formation – which would mimic a cytotoxic effect (Oostingh *et al.*, 2011).

6.2.2 In vitro toxicity

Primary cells are more representative of tissue and they can be expected to reproduce the normal response of normal individuals (Oostingh *et al.*, 2011) and so are ideal for *in vitro* toxicity studies. The use of primary cells, however, is not always feasible as they may be difficult to obtain (e.g. human lung epithelial cells) and they have limited cellular life spans, which means that fresh cells (probably obtained for different donors) are required for each assay, making standardisation difficult (Oostingh *et al.*, 2011). Thus secondary cell lines (transformed or tumour cells with unrestrained proliferative capacity), which are easier to maintain and produce reproducible results are preferred in many toxicity studies (Arora *et al.*, 2008). There may, however, be a number of issues related to the widespread use of secondary cell lines in *in vitro* toxicity testing. Oostingh *et al.* (2011) make the point that particular caution should be used when testing the cytotoxic and anti-proliferative effects of nanoparticles on secondary cells as they have different cell cycle regulation and cell survival compared to primary cells. Indeed, it has been reported (e.g. Arora *et al.*, 2009) that secondary cells are more susceptible to the impacts of AgNP than primary cells and this has led to the exploration of AgNP as a possible cancer treatment (e.g. Sriram *et al.*, 2010).

As noted by Samberg *et al.* (2012), there is currently no consensus on the cytotoxicity of AgNP; however the majority of publications do show reduced cell viability and increased ROS generation following AgNP exposure. Some however, clearly show that ROS are not always produced (e.g. Xiu *et al.*, 2011). Zanette *et al.* (2011) point out that while many studies consider evidence for the induction of oxidative stress and apoptosis in cells exposed to AgNP, less investigate the intracellular pathways involved in the processes. While such details are beyond the scope of this review, Zanette *et al.* (2011) suggest that AgNP may act on different cellular targets and may differentially affect specific intracellular pathways depending on the cell types used. Chernousova and Epple (2013) in their review of silver as an antimicrobial agent comment that, given the different possibilities for silver to disturb biological processes, a general statement about the origin of the toxic action of silver is not possible.

6.2.3 In vitro to in vivo extrapolations

Monteiro-Riviere *et al.* (2013) looked at the impact that pre-incubation of AgNP with a number of different proteins (albumin, IgG and transferrin - to form protein-complexed nanoparticles) had on the uptake of AgNP by human epidermal keratinocytes. AgNP association with serum proteins significantly modulated Ag uptake compared to native AgNP uptake. This suggests the need for caution in extrapolating *in vitro* uptake data to predict behaviour *in vivo*, where the nature of the protein corona may determine patterns of cellular uptake.

The results of Abbott Chalew and Schwab, 2013 (who found that the cytotoxicity of AgNP to intestinal cells was greater when the NP were suspended in buffered water than culture medium) also suggest the need for caution in making *in vivo* suppositions from *in vitro* data as AgNP exposure, especially via ingestion, are likely to be complex.

6.2.4 In vivo toxicity

The studies outlined in Section 4.2, largely focus on the effects of AgNP (with some comparisons with salts) and seem, generally, reassuring in that no toxicity or fairly mild toxicity is reported. Older studies are, perhaps, not as reassuring, although it is clear that in many cases extremely high doses were given. The following is taken from the Concise International Chemical Assessment Document (CICAD) on the environmental aspects of silver and silver compounds (WHO, 2002).

"Ionic Ag given as AgNO₃ is lethal to lab mice and rabbits at 13.9 and 20 mg/kg bw, respectively, by intraperitoneal injection, to dogs at 50 mg/kg bw by intravenous injection and to rats at 1586 mg/l drinking-water for 37 weeks (ATSDR, 1990). Sublethal effects are reported in rabbits given AgNO₃ at concentrations of 250µg/l drinking-water (brain histopathology) (Smith and Carlson, 1977), in rats given 400µg/l drinking-water for 100 days (kidney damage) (USEPA, 1980) in mice given 95 mg/l drinking-water for 125 days (sluggishness), in guinea pigs given 81 mg/cm² skin applied daily for 8 weeks (reduced growth) (ATSDR, 1990) and in rats given diets containing 6mg/kg for 3 months (high accumulations in kidneys and liver) or 130-1110 mg/kg (liver necrosis) (Smith and Carlson, 1977)".

Of concern are the studies showing toxicity resulting from drinking-water ingestion in rabbits (250µg/l) and rats (400µg/l).

6.3 Guidelines and regulations

There is currently no WHO health-based guideline value for silver in the drinking-water guidelines (WHO, 2011). Silver was last reviewed by the WHO for the drinking-water guidelines in 1993, when it was concluded that on the basis of epidemiological and pharmacokinetic knowledge at the time a total lifetime oral intake of about 10g of silver could be considered the human no observable adverse effect level (NOAEL). As it was felt that the contribution of drinking-water to this NOAEL would normally be negligible it was not deemed necessary to establish a health-based guideline value. However, it was suggested that where silver salts are used for drinking-water treatment that a concentration of 0.1mg/l could be tolerated without risk to health (a concentration that would give a total dose over a 70 year period of half of the NOAEL outlined above). The 0.1 mg/l level is thus a health advisory rather than a guideline value, a distinction that is rarely appreciated by researchers (e.g. Pelkonen *et al.*, 2003) who often refer to 0.1 mg/l as a guideline or allowable amount.

In Germany the drinking-water regulations (Trinkwasserverordnung) sets an allowable maximum of 0.01mg silver/litre (Chernousova and Epple, 2013).

In the 2012 edition of the USEPA drinking-water standards and health advisories document (USEPA, 2012) silver has the following health advisory values:

•	10 kg child one-day (mg/l)	0.2
•	10 kg child ten-day (mg/l)	0.2
•	Reference dose (mg/kg/day)	0.005*
•	Drinking-water equivalent level - DWEL (mg/l)	0.2
•	Life time health advisory (mg/l)	0.1*

* based on a cosmetic effect

A health advisory is an estimate of acceptable drinking-water levels for a chemical substance based on health effects information; it is not a legally enforceable Federal standard, but serves as technical guidance.

In the UPEPA secondary drinking-water regulations (non-enforceable Federal guidelines), silver has a value of 0.1 mg/l (USEPA, 2012).

6.4 Environmental considerations

Environmental considerations are largely beyond the scope of this report, however, it has been noted that release of silver and AgNP (from whatever source) into the environment may pose a threat to 'non-target' organisms (such as natural microbes and aquatic organisms). Bondarenko *et al.* (2013) reviewed the toxicity of Ag and AgNP to selected environmentally relevant test organisms as well as target organisms. Table 8 shows the median $L(E)C_{50}$ or MIC data for AgNP and Ag salts.

Group of organisms	Median L(E)C50/MIC						
	AgNP	Ν	Ag salt	Ν			
	(mg compound/litre	e)	(mg metal/litre)				
Target							
Algae	0.36	17	0.0076	10			
Bacteria	7.10	46	3.3	27			
Protozoa	38	7	1.5	3			
Non-target							
Crustaceans	0.01	17	0.00085	8			
Fish	1.36	17	0.058	4			
Nematodes	3.34	21	4.8	4			
Mammalian cells in vitro	11.3	25	2	18			

Table 8: Median L(E)C50 for all organisms except bacteria and median MIC for bacteria for AgNP and Ag salts (Bondarenko *et al.*, 2013)

The most sensitive organisms to both Ag salts and AgNP are crustaceans (non-target organisms). Based on the lowest median $L(E)C_{50}$ value of the key environmental organisms both Ag salt and AgNP would be classified as 'very toxic to aquatic organisms' under EU Directive 93/67/EEC CEC, 1996).

7. Conclusions

The lack of consistency in terms of what has been examined (Ag salts versus AgNP; capped AgNP versus bare AgNP; differently sized AgNP; AgNP created using different synthesis methods) and how it has been examined (use of different methodologies, different cells and microorganisms, different concentrations of test organisms and exposure for different time periods) means that it is difficult to compare data from different studies. There does seem, however, to be increasing recognition of some of the problems and the need for a more standardised approach.

The efficacy of silver, especially in terms of drinking-water disinfection, is currently a long way from convincing and, overall, there are far too many studies just looking at bacteria in general and *E. coli* in particular. Clearly, for any silver product to prove its worth as a drinking-water treatment it needs to show disinfectant efficacy against a range of microorganisms, including viruses. Any product that selectively removes the indicator bacteria is presenting a false picture of the water quality.

The body of evidence seems to suggest that silver (in ionic form or as AgNP) is toxic to mammalian cells, although the sensitivity of the cells varies according to the cell type and the type of silver to which it is exposed. There are a number of reasons why this finding of *in vitro* toxicity does not extrapolate easily to *in vivo* situations.

The mammalian *in vivo* data seem to suggest that generally exposure to silver results in little or no toxic signs, although in some cases high doses and/or repeated exposure to silver can cause mild toxicity and it has been noted that *"that the current application of silver (as metal, ion or AgNP) does not constitute a major risk for humans"* (Chernousova and Epple, 2013). The use of silver, especially in a drinking-water context does, however, present the potential for environmental problems as certain aquatic organisms (crustaceans) are far more sensitive to the effects of silver than bacteria (between 700 and over 3500 times more sensitive, based on the figures of Bondarenko *et al.*, 2013).

Finally, returning to the questions asked in Section 1, while the overall quality of evidence has only been rated as between moderate and low it is suggested that the evidence is sufficient to indicate that:

- while silver is toxic to mammalian cells *in vitro*, *in vivo* studies show minimal toxicity at realistic exposure scenarios and as such it seems unlikely to cause harm to humans from its use as a drinking-water treatment; and
- in its current applications, silver is not an effective drinking-water disinfectant.

8. References

- Abad FX, Pinto RM, Diez JM, Bosch A (1994) Disinfection of human enteric viruses in water by copper and silver in combination with low levels of chlorine. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 60, 2377-2383.
- Abbott Chalew TE, Schwab KJ (2013) Toxicity of commercially available engineered nanoparticles to Caco-2 and SW480 human intestinal epithelial cells. *Cell Biology and Toxicology* 29, 101-116.
- Adler I, Hudson-Edwards KA, Campos LC (2013) Evaluation of a silver-ion based purification system for rainwater harvesting at a small-scale community level. *Journal of Water Supply and Technology – AQUA* 62, 545-551.
- Arora S, Jain J, Rajwade JM, Paknikar KM (2008) Cellular responses induced by silver nanoparticles: in vitro studies. *Toxicology Letters* 179, 93-100.
- Arora S, Jain J, Rajwade JM, Paknikar KM (2009) Interactions of silver nanoparticles with primary mouse fibroblasts and liver cells. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology* 236, 310-318.
- AshaRani PV, Hande MP, Valiyaveettil S (2009a) Anti-proliferative activity of silver nanoparticles. BMC Cell Biology.
- AshaRani PV, Mun GLK, Hande MP, Valiyaveettil S (2009b) Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles in human cells. ACS Nano 3(2), 279-290.
- ATSDR (1990) Toxicological profile for silver. Agency for Toxic Substances and Disease Registry, US Department of Health and Human Services, Public Health Service, Atlanta, GA.
- Balshem H, Helfand M, Schünemann HJ, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Brozek J, Vist GE, Falck-Ytter Y, Meerpohl J, Norris S, Guyatt GH (2011) GRADE guidelines: 3. Rating the quality of evidence. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 64, 401-406.
- Baumgartner J, Murcott S, Ezzati M (2007) Reconsidering 'appropriate technology': the effects of operating conditions on the bacterial removal performance of two household drinking-water filter systems. *Environmental Research Letters* 2, doi:10.1088/1748-9326/2/2/024003.
- Beer CW, Guilmartin LE, McLoughlin TF, White TJ (1999) Swimming pool disinfection: efficacy of copper/silver ions with reduced chlorine levels. *Journal of Environmental Health* 61(9), 9-12.
- Bielefeldt AR, Kowalski K, Summers RS (2009) Bacterial treatment effectiveness of point-of-use ceramic water filters. *Water Research* 43, 3559-3565.
- Blanc DS, Carrar Ph, Zanetti G, Francioli P (2005) Water disinfection with ozone, copper and silver ions, and temperature increase to control *Legionella*: seven years of experience in a university teaching hospital. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 60, 69-72.

- Bloem SC, van Halem D, Sampson ML, Huoy L, Heijman B (2009) Silver impregnated ceramic pot filter: flow rate versus removal efficiency of pathogens. WEF Disinfection 2009, Atlanta 28.2.09-3.3.09.
- Böhmert L, Girod M, Hansen U, Maul R, Knappe P, Niemann B, Weidner SM, Thunemann AF, Lampen A (2014) Analytically monitored digestion of silver nanoparticles and their toxicity for human intestinal cells. *Nanotoxicology*, 8, 631-642.
- Bondarenko O, Juganson K, Ivask A, Kasemets K, Mortimer M, Kahru A (2013) Toxicity of Ag, CuO and ZnO nanoparticles to selected environmentally relevant test organisms and mammalian cells in vitro: a critical review. *Archives of Toxicology* 87, 1181-1200.
- Bouwmeester H, Poortman J, Peters RJ, Wijma E, Kramer E, Makama S, Puspitaninganindita K, Marvin HJP, Piejnenburg AACM, Hendriksen PJM (2011) Characterization of translocation of silver nanoparticles and effects on whole-genome gene expression using an in vitro intestinal epithelium coculture model. *Nano* 5, 4091-4013.
- Brandt D, Park B, Hoang M, Jacobe HT (2005) Argyria secondary to ingestion of homemade silver solution. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology* 53, S105-S107.
- Braydich-Stolle LK, Lucas B, Schrand A, Murdock RC, Lee T, Schlager JJ, Hussain SM, Hofmann MC (2010) Silver nanoparticles disrupt GDNF/Fyn kinase signalling in spermatological stem cells. *Toxicological Sciences* 116, 577-589.
- Brown J, Sobsey MD (2010) Microbiological effectiveness of locally produced ceramic filters for drinking-water treatment in Cambodia. *Journal of Water and Health* 8(1), 1-10.
- Brown J, Sobsey MD, Loomis D (2008) Local drinking-water filters reduce diarrheal disease in Cambodia: a randomized, controlled trail of the ceramic water purifier. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 79, 394-400.
- Cachafeiro SP, Naveira IM, Garcia IG (2007) Is copper-silver ionization safe and effective in controlling Legionella? *Journal of Hospital Infection* 67, 209-216.
- Carlson C, Hussain SM, Schrand AM, Braydich-Stolle LK, Hess KL, Jones RL, Schlager JJ (2008) Unique cellular interaction of silver nanoparticles: size-dependent generation of reactive oxygen species. *Journal of Physical Chemistry* B 112, 13608-13619.
- CEC (1996) Commission of the European Communities technical guidance document in support of Commission Directive 93/67/EEC on risk assessment for new notified substances. Part II, Environmental Risk Assessment. Office for official publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg – cited by Bondarenko *et al.* (2013).
- Cha K, Hong HW, Choi YG, Lee MJ, Park JH, Chae HK, Ryu G, Myung H (2008) Comparison of acute responses of mice livers to short-term exposure to nano-sized or micro-sized silver particles. *Biotechnology Letters* 30, 1893-1899.
- Chairuangkitti P, Lawanprasert S, Roytrakul S, Aueviriyavit S, Phummiratch D, Kulthong K, Chanvorachote P, Maniratanachote R (2013) Silver nanoparticles induce toxicity in A549 cells via ROS-dependent and ROS-independent pathways. *Toxicology in Vitro* 27, 330-338.
- Chen CH, Lin LC, Chang YJ, Liu CE, Soon MS, Huang CS (2013) Efficacy of copper-silver ionization for controlling fungal colonization in water distribution systems. *Journal of Water and Health* 11(2), 277-280.
- Chen YS, Lin YE, Liu Y-C, Huang WK, Shih HY, Wann SR, Lee SS, Tsai HC, Li CH, Chao HL, Ke CM, Lu HH, Chang CL (2008) Efficacy of point-of-entry copper-silver ionization system in eradicating *Legionella pneumophila* in a tropical tertiary care hospital: implications for hospitals contaminated with Legionella in both hot and cold water. *Journal of Hospital Infection* 68, 152-158.
- Chernousova S, Epple M (2013) Silver as antibacterial agent: ion, nanoparticle, and metal. Angewandte Chemie 52, 1636-1653.
- Choi J, Reipa V, Hitchins VM, Goering PL, Malinauskas RA (2011) Physiocochemical characterization and in vitro hemolysis evaluation of silver nanoparticles. *Toxicological Sciences* 123, 133-143.

- Christensen FM, Johnston HJ, Stone V, Aitken RJ, Hankin S, Peters S, Aschberger K (2010) Nano-silver
 feasibility and challenges for human health risk assessment based on open literature.
 Nanotoxicology 4, 284-295.
- Chung IS, Lee MY, Shin DH, Jung HR (2010) Three systemic argyria cases after ingestion of colloidal silver solution. *International Journal of Dermatology* 49, 1175-1177.
- Clasen T, Garcia Parra G, Boisson S, Collin S (2005) Household-based ceramic water filters for the prevention of diarrhea: a randomized, controlled trial of a pilot program in Columbia. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 73, 790-795.
- Clasen TF, Brown J, Collin S, Suntura O, Cairncross S (2004) Reducing diarrhea through the use of household-based ceramic water filters: a randomized, controlled trail in rural Bolivia. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 70(6), 651-657.
- Comfort KK, Maurer EI, Braydich-Stolle L, Hussain SM (2011) Interference of silver, gold, and iron oxide nanoparticles on epidermal growth factor signal transduction in epithelial cells. *ACS Nano* 5, 10000-10008.
- Cortese-Krott MM, Munchow M, Pirev E, Hessner F, Bozkurt A, Uciechowski P, Pallua N, Kroncke KD, Suschek CV (2009) Silver ions induce oxidative stress and intracellular zinc release in human skin fibroblasts. *Free Radical Biology & Medicine* 47, 1570-1577.
- Cunningham JH, Cunningham C, van Aken B, Lin, LS (2008) Feasibility of disinfection kinetics and minimum inhibitory concentration determination on bacterial cultures using flow cytometry. *Water Science and Technology* 55.4, 937-944.
- Dankovich TA, Gray DG (2011) Bactericidal paper impregnated with silver nanoparticles for point-ofuse water treatment. *Environmental Science and Technology* 45, 1992-1998.
- De Gusseme B, Hennebel T, Christiaens E, Saveyn H, Verbeken K, Fitts JP, Boon N, Verstraete W (2011) Virus disinfection in water by biogenic silver immobilized in polyvinylidene fluoride membranes. *Water Research* 45, 1856-1864.
- De Gusseme B, Sintubin L, Baert L, Thibo E, Hennebel T, Vermeulen G, Uyttendale M, Verstraete W, Boon N (2010) Biogenic silver for disinfection of water contaminated with viruses. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 76, 1082-1087.
- De Jong WH, van der Ven LTM, Sleijffers A, Park MVDZ, Jansen EHJM, van Loveren H, Vandebriel RJ (2013) Systemic and immunotoxicity of silver nanoparticles in an intravenous 28 days repeated dose toxicity study in rats. *Biomaterials* 34, 8333-8343.
- Dong MS, Choi JY, Sung JH, Kim JS, Song KS, Ryu HR, Lee JH, Bang IS, An K, Park HM, Song NW, Yu IJ (2013) Gene expression profiling of kidneys from Sprague-Dawley rats following 12-week inhalation exposure to silver nanoparticles. *Toxicology Mechanisms and Methods*.
- du Preez M, Conroy RM, Wright JA, Moyo S, Potgieter N, Gundry SW (2008) Short report: Use of ceramic water filtration in the prevention of diarrheal disease: a randomized controlled trial in rural South Africa and Zimbabwe. *American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 79(5), 696-701.
- Dziendzikowska K, Gromadzka-Ostrowska J, Lankoff A, Oczkowski M, Krawczynska A, Chwastowska J, Sadowska-Bratek M, Chajduk E, Wojewodzka M, Dusinska M, Kruszewski M (2012) Timedependent biodistribution and excretion of silver nanoparticles in male Wistar rats. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* 32, 920-928.
- Elechiguerra J, Burt J, Morones J, Camacho-Bragado A, Gao X, Lara H, Yacaman M (2005) Interaction of silver nanoparticles with HIV-1. *Journal of Nanobiotechnology* 3(6), doi: 10.1186/1477-3155-3-6.
- Ema M, Kobayashi N, Naya M, Hanai S, Nakanishi J (2010) Reproductive and developmental toxicity studies of manufactured nanomaterials. *Reproductive Toxicology* 30, 343-352.
- Foldbjerg R, Irving ES, Hayashi Y, Sutherland DS, Thorsen K, Autrup H, Beer C (2012) Global gene expression profiling of human lung epithelial cells after exposure to nanosilver. *Toxicological Sciences* 130, 145-157.

- Foldbjerg R, Dang DA, Autrup H (2011) Cytotoxicity and genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles in the human cancer cell line, A549. *Archives of Toxicology* 85, 743-750.
- Foldbjerg R, Olesen P, Hougaard M, Dang DA, Hoffmann HJ, Autrup H (2009) PVP-coated silver nanoparticles and silver ions induce reactive oxygen species, apoptosis and necrosis in THP-1 monocytes. *Toxicology Letters* 190, 156-162.
- Gaiser BK, Fernandes TF, Jepson M, Lead JR, Tyler CR, Stone V (2009) Assessing exposure, uptake and toxicity of silver and cerium dioxide nanoparticles from contaminated environments. *Environmental Health* 8, S2.
- Gaiser BK, Hirn S, Kermanizadeh A, Kanase N, Fytianos K, Wenk A, Haberl N, Brunelli A, Kreyling WG, Stone V (2013) Effects of silver nanoparticles on the liver and heptocytes in vitro. *Toxicological Sciences* 131, 537-547.
- Gangadharan D, Harshvardan K, Gnanasekar G, Dixit D, Popat KM, Anand PS (2010) Polymeric microspheres containing silver nanoparticles as a bactericidal agent for water disinfection. *Water Research* 44, 5481-5487.
- Gopinath P, Gogoi SK, Chattopadhyay A, Ghosh SS (2008) Implications of silver nanoparticle induced cell apoptosis for in vitro gene therapy. *Nanotechnology* 19
- Gopinath P, Gogoi SK, Sanpui P, Paul A, Chattopadhyay A, Ghosh SS (2010) Signalling gene cascade in silver nanoparticle induced apoptosis. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces* 77, 240-245.
- Gromadzka-Ostrowska J, Dziendzikowska K, Lankoff A, Dobrynska M, Instanes C, Brunborg G, Gajowik A, Radzikowska J, Wojewodzka, Kruszewski M (2012) Silver nanoparticles effects on epididymal sperm in rats. *Toxicology Letters* 214, 251-258.
- Grosse S, Evje L, Syversen T (2013) Silver nanoparticle-induced cytotoxicity in rat brain endothelial cell culture. *Toxicology in Vitro* 27, 305-313.
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Montori V, Vist G, Kunz R, Brozek J, Alonso-Coello P, Djulbegovic B, Atkins D, Falck-Ytter Y, Williams JW, Meerpohl J, Norris SL, Akl EA, Schünemann HJ (2011a) GRADE guidelines: 5. Rating the quality of evidence – publication bias. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 64, 1277-1282.
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Sultan S, Glasziou P, Akl EA, Alonso-Coello P, Atkins D, Kunz R, Brozek J, Montori V, Jaeschke R, Rind D, Dahm P, Meerpohl J, Vist G, Berliner E, Norris S, Falck-Ytter Y, Murad MH, Schünemann HJ (2011b) GRADE guidelines: 9. Rating up the quality of evidence. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology 64, 1311-1316.
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Kunz R, Woodcock J, Brozek J, Helfand M, Alonso-Coello P, Glasziou P, Jaeschke R, Akl EA, Norris S, Vist G, Dahm P, Shukla VK, Higgins J, Falck-Ytter Y, Schünemann HJ (2011c) GRADE guidelines: 7. Rating the quality of evidence inconsistency. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 64, 1294-1302.
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Alonso-Coello P, Schünemann HJ (2008a) GRADE: an emerging consensus on rating quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. *BMJ* 336, 924-926.
- Guyatt GH, Oxman AD, Vist GE, Kunz R, Falck-Ytter Y, Schünemann HJ (2008b) GRADE: what is "quality of evidence" and why is it important to clinicians? *BMJ* 336, 995-998.
- Haase A, Rott S, Mantion A, Graf P, Plendl J, Thunemann AF, Meier WP, TaubertA, Luch A, Reiser G.
 (2012a) Effects of silver nanoparticles on primary mixed neural cell cultures: uptake, oxidative stress and acute calcium responses. *Toxicological Sciences* 126, 457-468.
- Haase A, Mantion A, Graf P, Plendl J, Thuenemann AF, Meier W, Taubert A, Luch A (2012b) A novel type of silver nanoparticles and their advantages in toxicity testing in cell culture systems. *Archives of Toxicology* 86, 1089-1098.
- Hackenberg S, Scherzed A, Kessler M, Hummel S, Technau A, Froelich K, Ginzkey C, Koehler C, Hagen R, Kleinsasser N (2011) Silver nanoparticles: evaluation of DNA damage, toxicity and functional impairment in human mesenchymal stem cells. *Toxicology Letters* 201, 27-33.

- Hadrup N, Lam HR, Loeschner K, Mortensen A, Larsen EH, Frandsen H (2012b) Nanoparticulate silver increases uric acid and allantoin excretion in rats, as identified by metabolomics. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* 32, 929-933.
- Hadrup N, Loeschner K, Bergstrom A, Wilcks A, Gao X, Vogel U, Frandsen HL, Larsen EH, Lam HR, Mortensen A (2012a) Subacute oral toxicity investigation of nanoparticulate and ionic silver in rats. Archives of Toxicology 86, 543-551.
- Hardes J, Streitburger A, Ahrens H, Nusselt T, Gebert C, Winkelmann W, Battmann A, Gosheger G (2007) The influence of elementary silver versus titanium on osteoblasts behaviour in vitro using human osteosarcoma cell lines. Sarcoma.
- Heidarpour F, Ghani WA, Fakhru'l-Razi A, Sobri S, Heydarpour V, Zargar M, Mozafari MR (2011) Complete removal of pathogenic bacteria from drinking-water using nano silver-coated cylindrical polypropylene filters. *Clean Technology and Environmental Policy* 13, 499-507.
- Hosseini E (2013) Study on physiological and biochemical activity of silver nanoparticles in male and female mice. *Bulletin of Environment, Pharmacology and Life Sciences* 2, 21-26.
- Hsin YH, Chen CF, Huang S, Shih TS, Lai PS, Chueh PJ (2008) The apoptotic effect of nanosilver is mediated by a ROS- and JNK-dependent mechanism involving the mitochondrial pathway in NIH3T3 cells. *Toxicology Letters* 179, 130-139.
- Huang HI, Shih HY, Lee CM, Yang TC, Lay JJ, Lin YE (2008) In vitro efficacy of copper and silver ions in eradicating Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Stenotrophomonas maltophila and Acinetobacter baumannii: Implications for on-site disinfection for hospital infection control. *Water Research* 42, 73-80.
- Hudecová A, Kusznierewicz B, Runden-Pran E, Magdolenova Z *et al.* (2012) Silver nanoparticles induce premutagenic DNA oxidation that can be prevented by phytochemicals from *Gentiana asclepiadea*. *Mutagenesis* 27, 759-769.
- Hussain SM, Hess KL, Gearhart JM, Geiss KT, Schlager JJ (2005) In vitro toxicity of nanoparticles in BRL 3A rat liver cells. *Toxicology in Vitro* 19, 975-983.
- Hwang MG, Katayama H, Ohgaki S (2007) Inactivation of *Legionella pneumophila* and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: Evaluation of the bactericidal ability of silver cations. *Water Research* 41, 4097-4104.
- Hyun JS, Lee BS, Ryu HY, Sung JH, Chung KH, Yu IJ (2008) Effects of repeated silver nanoparticles exposure on the histological structure and mucins of nasal respiratory mucosa in rats. *Toxicology Letters* 182, 24-28.
- Jain P, Pradeep T (2005) Potential of silver nanoparticles-coated polyurethane foam as an antibacterial water filter. *Biotechnology and Bioengineering* 90(1), 59-63.
- Ji JH, Jung JH, Kim SS, Yoon JU, Park JD, Choi BS, Chung YH, Kwon IH, Jeong J, Han BS, Shin JH, Sung JH, Song KS, Yu IJ (2007) Twenty-eight-day inhalation toxicity study of silver nanoparticles in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Inhalation Toxicology* 19, 857-871.
- Jun E-A, Lim K-M, Kim K, Bae ON, Noh JY, Chung KH, Chung JH (2011) Silver nanoparticles enhance thrombus formation through increased platelet aggregation and procoagulant activity. *Nanotoxicology* 5, 157-167.
- Kallman EN, Oyanedel-Craver VA, Smith JA (2011) Ceramic filters impregnated with silver nanoparticles for point-of-use water treatment in rural Guatemala. *Journal of Environmental Engineering* 137, 407-415.
- Kawata K, Osawa M, Okabe S (2009) In vitro toxicity of silver nanoparticles at noncytotoxic doses to HepG2 hepatoma cells. *Environmental Science and Technology* 43, 6046-6051.
- Kermanizadeh A, Vranic S, Boland S, Moreau K, Baeza-Squiban A, Gaiser BK, Andrzejczuk LA, Stone V (2013) An in vitro assessment of panel of engineered nanomaterials using a human renal cell line: cytotoxicity, pro-inflammatory response, oxidative stress and genotoxicity. BMC Nephrology 14

- Khan H, Khan MF, Asim-Ur-Rehman, Jan SU, Ullah N (2011) The protective role of glutathione in silver induced toxicity in blood components. *Pakistan Journal of Pharmacological Science* 24, 123-128.
- Kim JS, Song KS, Sung JH, Ryu HR, Choi BG, Cho HS, Lee JK, Yu IJ (2013) Genotoxicity, acute oral and dermal toxicity, eye and dermal irritation and corrosion and skin sensitisation evaluation of silver nanoparticles. *Nanotoxicology* 7, 953-960.
- Kim JS, Sung JH, Ji JH, Song KS, Lee JH, Kang CS, Yu IJ (2011) In vivo genotoxicity of silver nanoparticles after 90-day silver nanoparticle inhalation exposure. *Safety and Health at Work* 2, 34-38.
- Kim S, Choi JE, Choi J, Chung KH, Park K, Yi J (2009) Oxidative stress-dependent toxicity of silver nanoparticles in human hepatoma cells. *Toxicology in Vitro* 23, 1076-1084.
- Kim WY, Kim J, Park JD, Ryu HY, Yu IJ (2009) Histological study of gender differences in accumulation of silver nanoparticles in kidneys of Fischer 344 rats. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health A* 72, 1279-1284.
- Kim YS, Kim JS, Cho HS, Rha DS, Kim JM, Park JD, Choi BS, Lim R, Chang HK, Chung YH, Kwon IH, Jeong J, Han BS, Yu IJ (2008) 28-day oral toxicity, genotoxicity and gender-related tissue distribution of silver nanoparticles in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Inhalation Toxicology* 20, 575-583.
- Kim YS, Song MY, Park JD, Song KS, Ryu HR, Chung YH, Chang HK, Lee JH, Oh KH, Kelman BJ, Hwang IK, Yu IJ (2010) Subchronic oral toxicity of silver nanoparticles. *Particle and Fibre Technology* 7
- Kittler S, Greulich C, Diendorf J, Koller M, Epple M (2010) Toxicity of silver nanoparticles increases during storage because of slow dissolution under release of silver ions. Chemistry of Materials 22, 4548-4554.
- Klimisch HJ, Andreae M, Tillmann U (1997) A systematic approach for evaluating the quality of experimental toxicological and ecotoxicological data. *Regulatory Toxicology and Pharmacology* 25, 1-5.
- Korani M, Rezayat SM, Gilani K, Arbabi Bidgoli S, Adeli S (2011) Acute and subchronic dermal toxicity of nanosilver in guinea pig. *International Journal of Nanomedicine* 6, 855-862.
- Kruszewski M, Gradzka I, Bertlomiejczyk T, Chwastowska J, Sommer S, Grzelak A, Zuberek M, Lankoff A, Dusinska M, Wojewodzka M (2013) Oxidative DNA damage corresponds to the long term survival of human cells treated with silver nanoparticles. *Toxicology Letters* 219, 151-159.
- Landeen LK, Yayha MT, Kutz SM, Gerba CP (1989) Microbiological evaluation of copper:silver disinfection units for use in swimming pools. *Water Science and Technology* 21, 267-270.
- Lankveld DPK, Oomen AG, Krystek P, Neigh A, Troost-de Jong A, Noorlander CW, Van Eijkeren JCH, Geertsma RE, De Jong WH (2010) The kinetics of the tissue distribution of silver nanoparticles of different sizes. *Biomaterials* 31, 8350-8361.
- Lantagne DS (2001) Investigation of the Potters for Peace Colloidal Silver Impregnated Ceramic Filter. Report 1: Intrinsic Effectiveness. Alethia Environmental, Allston <u>http://web.mit.edu/watsan/Docs/Other%20Documents/ceramicpot/PFP-Report1-</u> Daniele%20Lantagne,%2012-01.pdf
- Larese FF, D'Agostin F, Crosera M, Adami G, Renzi N, Bovenzi M, Maina G (2009) Human skin penetration of silver nanoparticles through intact and damaged skin. *Toxicology* 255, 33-37.
- Lea MC (1889) On allotropic forms of silver. *American Journal of Science* 37, 476-491 cited by Nowack *et al.*, 2011.
- Lee HY, Choi YJ, Jung EJ, Yin HQ, Kwon JT, Kim JE, Im HT, Cho MH, Kim JH, Kim HY, Lee BH (2010) Genomics-based screening of differentially expressed genes in the brains of mice exposed to silver nanoparticles via inhalation. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* 12, 1567-1578.
- Lee JH, Mun J, Park JD, Yu IJ (2012) A health surveillance case study on workers who manufacture silver nanomaterials. *Nanotoxicology* 6, 667-669.
- Lee YS, Kim DW, Lee YH, Oh JH, Yoon S, Choi MS, Lee SK, Kim JW, Lee K, Song CW (2011) Silver nanoparticles induce apoptosis and G2/M arrest via PKC-dependent signalling in A549 lung cells. *Archives of Toxicology* 85, 1529-1540.

- Li L, Sun J, Li X, Zhang Y, Wang Z, Wang C, Dai J, Wang Q (2012) Controllable synthesis of monodispersed silver nanoparticles as standards for quantitative assessment of their cytotoxicity. *Biomaterials* 33, 1714-1721.
- Lin S, Huang R, Cheng Y, Liu J, Lau BLT, Wiesner MR (2013) Silver nanoparticle-alginate composite beads for point-of-use drinking-water disinfection. *Water Research* 47, 3959-3965.
- Lin YE, Stout JE, Yu VL (2011) Controlling *Legionella* in hospital drinking water: an evidence-based review of disinfection methods *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 32(2), 166-173.
- Liu J, Wang Z, Luo Z, Bashir S (2012) Effective bactericidal performance of silver-decorated titania nano-composites. *Dalton Transactions* DOI: 10.1039/c2dt31648j.
- Liu W, Wu Y, Wang C, Li HC, Wang t, Liao CY, Cui L, Zhou QF, Yan B, Jiang (2010) Impact of silver nanoparticles on human cells: effect of particle size. *Nanotoxicology* 4, 319-330.
- Liu Z, Stout JE, Boldin M, Rugh J, Diven WF, Yu VL (1998) Intermittent use of copper-silver ionization for *Legionella* control in water distribution systems: a potential option in buildings housing individuals at low risk of infection. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 26, 138-140.
- Loeschner K, Hadrup N, Qvortrup K, Larsen A, Gao X, Vogel U, Mortensen A, Lam HR, Larsen EH (2011) Distribution of silver in rats following 28 days of repeated oral exposure to silver nanoparticles or silver acetate. *Particle and Fibre Technology* 8
- Loo SL, Fane AG, Lim TT, Krantz WB, Liang YN, Liu X, Hu X (2013) Superabsorbent cryogels decorated with silver nanoparticles as a novel water technology for point-of-use disinfection. *Environmental Science and Technology* 47, 9363-9371.
- Lu L, Sun R, Chen R, Hui C, Ho C, Luk J, Lau G, Che C (2008) Silver nanoparticles inhibit hepatitis B virus replication. *Antiviral Therapy* 13, 253-262 cited by Marambio-Jones and Hoek, 2010.
- Luther EM, Koehler Y, Diendorf J, Epple M, Dringen R (2011) Accumulation of silver nanoparticles by cultured primary brain astrocytes. *Nanotechnology* 22.
- Luther EM, Schmidt MM, Diendorf J, Epple M, Dringen R (2012) Upregulation of metallothieneins after exposure of cultured primary astrocytes to silver nanoparticles. *Neurochemical Research* 37, 1639-1648.
- Lv Y, Liu H, Wang Z, Liu S, Hao L, Sang Y, Liu D, Wang J, Boughton RI (2009) Silver nanoparticlesdecorated porous ceramic composite for water treatment. *Journal of Membrane Science* 331, 50-56.
- Lyon TDB, Patriarca M, Howatson AG, Fleming PJ, Blair PS, Fell GS (2002) Age dependence of potentially toxic elements (Sb, Cd, Pb, Ag) in human liver tissue from paediatric subjects. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring* 4, 1034-1039.
- Madrigan MT, Martinko JM, Parker J (2000) Brock Biology of Microorganisms, 9th edition. Prentice-Hall, Inc. – cited by Cunningham *et al.*, 2008.
- Maneewattanapinyo P, Banlunara W, Thammacharoen C, Ekgasit S, Kaewamatawong T (2011) An evaluation of acute toxicity of colloidal silver nanoparticles. *Journal of Veterinary Medicine and Science* 73, 1417-1423.
- Marambio-Jones C, Hoek EMV (2010) A review of the antibacterial effects of silver nanomaterials and potential implications for human health and the environment. *Journal of Nanoparticle Research* 12, 1531-1551.
- Mòdol J, Sabria M, Reynaga E, Pedro-Botet ML, Sopena N, Tudela P, Casas I, Rey-Joly C (2007) Hospital-acquired Legionnaires disease in a university hospital: impact of the copper-silver ionization system. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 44, 263-265.
- Monteiro-Riviere NA, Samberg ME, Oldenburg SJ, Riviere JE (2013) Protein binding modulates the cellular uptake of silver nanoparticles into human cells: implications for in vitro and in vivo extrapolations. *Toxicology Letters* 220, 286-293.
- Moore MN (2006) Do nanoparticles present ecotoxicological risks for the health of the aquatic environment? *Environment International* 32, 967-976.

Mpenyana-Monyatsi L, Mthombeni NH, Onyango MS, Momba MNB (2012) Cost-effective filter materials coated with silver nanoparticles for the removal of pathogenic bacteria in groundwater. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 9, 244-271.

- Mthombeni NH, Mpenyana-Monyatsi L, Onyango MS, Momba MNB (2012) Breakthrough analysis for water disinfection using silver nanoparticles coated resin beads in fixed-bed column. Journal of Hazardous Materials 217-218, 133-140.
- Mukherjee SG, O'Claonadh N, Casey A, Chambers G (2012) Comparative in vitro cytotoxicity study of silver nanoparticle on two mammalian cell lines. *Toxicology in Vitro* 26, 238-251.
- Munger MA, Radwanski P, Hadlock GC, Stoddard G, Shaaban A, Falconer J, Grainger DW, Deering-Rice CE (2013) In vivo human time-exposure study of orally dosed commercial silver nanoparticles. Nanomedicine

Nangmenyi G, Xao W, Mehrabi S, Mintz E, Economy J (2009) Bactericidal activity of Ag nanoparticlesimpregnated fibreglass for water disinfection. Journal of Water and Health 7(4), 657-663.

- Nawaz M, Han MY, Kim T, Manzoor U, Amin MT (2012) Silver disinfection of Pseudomonas aeruginosa and E. coli in rooftop harvested rainwater for potable purposes. Science of the Total Environment 431, 20-25.
- Nowack B, Krug HF, Height M (2011) 120 years of nanosilver history: implications for policy makers. Environmental Science and Technology 45, 1177-1183.
- Nowrouzi A, Meghrazi K, Golmohammadi T, Golestani A, Ahmadian S, Shafiezadeh M, Shajary Z, Khaghani S, Amiri AN (2010) Cytotoxicity of subtoxic AgNP in human hepatoma cell line (HepG2) after long-term exposure. Iranian Biomedical Journal 14, 23-32.
- NTP (2013) Draft OHAT approach for systematic review and evidence integration for literature-based health assessments - February 2013.

http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/NTP/OHAT/EvaluationProcess/BPAProtocolDraft.pdf (accessed 6/12/13)

- Oostingh GJ, Casals E, Italiani P, Colognato R, Stritzinger R, Ponti J, Pfaller T, Kohl Y, Ooms D, Favilli F, Leppens H, Lucchesi D, Rossi F, Nelissen I, Thielecke H, Puntes VF, Duschl VF, Boraschi D (2011) Problems and challenges in the development and validation of human cell-based assays to determine nanoparticle-induced immunomodulatory effects. Particle and Fibre Technology, 8.
- Park EJ, Bae E, Yi J, Kim Y, Choi K, Lee SH, Yoon J, Lee BC, Park K (2010a) Repeated-dose toxicity and inflammatory responses in mice by oral administration of silver nanoparticles. Environmental *Toxicology and Pharmacology* 30, 162-168.
- Park EJ, Yi J, Kim Y, Choi K, Park K (2010b) Silver nanoparticles induce cytotoxicity by a Trojan-horse type mechanism. Toxicology in Vitro 24, 872-878.
- Pathak SP, Gopal K (2012) Evaluation of bactericidal efficacy of silver ions on Escherichia coli for drinking-water disinfection. Environmental Science and Pollution Research 19, 2285-2290.
- Patil RA, Kausley SB, Balkunde PL, Malhotra CP (2013) Comparative study of disinfectants for use in low-cost gravity driven household water purifiers. Journal of Water and Health 11.3, 443-456.
- Pedro-Botet ML, Sanchez I, Sabria M, Sopena N, Mateu L, García-Núñez M, Rey-Joly C (2007) Impact of copper and silver ionization on fungal colonization of the water supply in health care centres: implications for immunocompromised patients, Clinical Infectious Diseases 45, 84-86.
- Pelkonen KHO, Heinonen-Tanski H, Hanninen OOP (2003) Accumulation of silver from drinking water into cerebellum and musculus soleus in mice. Toxicology 186, 151-157.
- Pianetti A, Sabatini L, Citterio B, Sisti E, Pierfelici L, Bruscolini F (2008) Inactivation of Legionella pneumophila by combined systems of copper and silver ions and free chlorine. Igiene e Sanita Pubblica 64, 27-40.
- Piao MJ, Kang KA, Lee IK, Kim HS, Kim S, Choi JY, Choi J, Hyun JW (2011) Silver nanoparticles induce oxidative cell damage in human liver cells through inhibition of reduced glutathione and induction of mitochondria-involved apoptosis. *Toxicology Letters* 201, 92-100.

- Powers CM, Badireddy AR, Ryde IT, Seidler FJ, Slotkin TA (2011) Silver nanoparticles compromise neurodevelopment in PC12 cells: critical contributions of silver ion, particle size, coating and composition. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 119, 37-44.
- Powers CM, Wrench N, Ryde IT, Smith AM, Seidler FJ, Slotkin TA (2010) Silver impairs neurodevelopment in PC12 cells. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 118, 73-79.
- Pratsinis A, Hervella P, Leroux J, Pratsinis SE, Sotiriou GA (2013) Toxicity of silver nanoparticles in macrophages. *Small* 9, 2576-2584.
- Salsali H, McBean E, Brunsting J (2011) Virus removal efficiency of Cambodian ceramic pot water purifiers. *Journal of Water and Health* 9(2), 306-311.
- Samberg ME, Loboa EG, Oldenburg SJ, Monteiro-Riviere NA (2012) Silver nanoparticles do not influence stem cell differentiation but cause minimal toxicity. Nanomedicine 7, 1197-1209.
- Samberg ME, Oldenburg SJ, Monteiro-Riviere NA (2010) Evaluation of silver nanoparticle toxicity in skin *in vivo* and keratinocytes *in vitro*. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 118, 407-413.
- Samberg ME, Oldenburg SJ, Monteiro-Riviere NA (2011) Antibacterial efficacy of silver nanoparticles of different sizes, surface conditions and synthesis methods. Nanotoxicology 5, 244-253.
- Shavandi Z, Ghazanfari T, Moghaddam KN (2011) In vitro toxicity of silver nanoparticles on murine peritoneal macrophages. *Immunopharmacology and Immunotoxicology* 33, 135-140.
- Silvestry-Rodriguez N, Bright KR, Slack DC, Uhlmann DR, Gerba CP (2008) Silver as a residual disinfectant to prevent biofilm formation in water distribution systems. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 74, 1639-1641.
- Silvestry-Rodriguez N, Bright KR, Uhlmann DR, Slack DC, Gerba CP (2007) Inactivation of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and *Aeromonas hydrophila* by silver in tap water. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health Part A* 42, 1579-1584.
- Simmons SO, Fan C-Y, Yeoman K, Wakefield J, Ramabhadran R (2011) NRF2 oxidative stress induced by heavy metals is cell type dependent. *Current Chemical Genomics* 5, 1-12.
- Singh RP and Ramarao P (2012) Cellular uptake, intracellular trafficking and cytotoxicity of silver nanoparticles. *Toxicology Letters* 213, 249-259.
- Smeltz A (2012) CDC: Ionization not 'best strategy' for preventing Legionnaires'. *Pittsburgh Tribune-Review* 29/11/12.
- Smith I, Carlson B (1977) Trace metals in the environment. Volume 2. Silver. Ann Arbor MI, 469pp.
- Song KS, Sung JH, Ji JH, Lee JH, Lee JS, Ryu HR, Lee JK, Chung YH, Park HM, Shin BS, Chang HK, Kelman B, Yu IJ (2013) Recovery from silver-nanoparticle-exposure-induced lung inflammation and lung function changes in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Nanotoxicology* 7, 169-189.
- Sriram MI, Kanth SBM, Kalishwaralal K, Gurunathan S (2010) Antitumor activity of silver nanoparticles in Dalton's lymphoma ascites tumor model. *International Journal of Nanomedicine* 5, 753-762.
- Srivastava M, Singh S, Self WT (2012) Exposure to silver nanoparticles inhibits selenoprotein synthesis and the activity of thioredoxin reductase. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 120, 56-61.
- Stebounova LV, Adamcakova-Dodd A, Kim JS, Park H, O'Shaughnessy PT, Grassian VH, Thorne PS (2011) Nanosilver induces minimal lung toxicity or inflammation in a subacute murine inhalation model. *Particle and Fibre Technology* 8(5)
- Stevanovic M, Kovacevic B, Petkovic J, Filipic M, Uskokovic D (2011) Effect of poly-alpha, gamma, Lglutamic acid as a capping agent on morphology and oxidative stress-dependent toxicity of silver nanoparticles. *International Journal of Nanomedicine* 6, 2837-2847.
- Stout JE, Yu VL (2003) Experiences of the first 16 hospitals using copper-silver ionization for Legionella control: implications for the evaluation of other disinfection modalities. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology* 24, 563-568.
- Suliman YAO, Ali D, Alarifi AH, Mansour L, Alwasel SH (2013) Evaluation of cytotoxic, oxidative stress, proinflammatory and genotoxic effect of silver nanoparticles in human lung epithelial cells. *Environmental Toxicology*.

- Sun L, Singh A, Vig K, Pillai S, Singh S (2008) Silver nanoparticles inhibit replication of respiratory syncytial virus. *Journal of Biomedicine and Nanotechnology* 4, 149-158 cited by Marambio-Jones and Hoek, 2010.
- Sung JH, Ji JH, Song KS, Lee JH, Choi KH, Lee SH, Yu IJ (2011) Acute inhalation toxicity of silver nanoparticles. *Toxicology and Industrial Health* 27, 49-54.
- Sung JH, Ji JH, Yoon JU, Kim DS, Song MY, Jeong J, Han BS, Han JH, Chung YH, Kim J, Kim TS, Chang HK, Lee EJ, Lee JH, Yu IJ (2008) Lung function changes in Sprague-Dawley rats after prolonged inhalation exposure to silver nanoparticles. *Inhalation Toxicology* 20, 567-574.
- Sung JH, Ji JH, Park JD, Yoon JU, Kim DS, Jeon KS, Song MY, Jeong J, Han JH, Chung YH, Chang HK, Lee JH, Cho MH, Kelman BJ, Yu IJ (2009) Subchronic inhalation toxicity of silver nanoparticles. *Toxicological Sciences* 108, 452-461.
- Sur I, Cam D, Kahraman M, Baysal A, Culha M (2010) Interaction of multi-functional silver nanoparticles with living cells. *Nanotechnology* 21.
- Suresh AK, Pelletier DA, Wang W, Morrell-Falvey JL, Gu B, Doktycz MJ (2012) Cytotoxicity induced by engineered silver nanocrystallites is dependent on surface coatings and cell types. *Langmuir* 28, 2727-2735.
- Takenaka S, Karg E, Roth C, Schulz H, Ziesenis A, Heinzmann U, Schramel P, Heyder J (2001) Pulmonary and systemic distribution of inhaled ultrafine silver particles in rats. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 109, 547-551.
- Tiwari DK, Jin T, Behari J (2011) Dose-dependent in-vivo toxicity assessment of silver nanoparticle in Wistar rats. *Toxicological Mechanisms and Methods* 21, 13-24.
- Trickler WJ, Lantz SM, Murdock RC, Schrand AM, Robinson BL, Newport GD, Schlager JJ, Oldenburg SJ, Paule MG, Slikker W Jr., Hussain SM, Ali SF (2010) Silver nanoparticle induced blood-brain barrier inflammation and increased permeability in primary rat brain microvessel endothelial cells. *Toxicological Sciences* 118, 160-170.
- Trop M, Novak M, Rodl S, Hellbom B, Kroell W, Goessler W (2006) Silver coated dressing Acticoat caused raised liver enzymes and argyria-like symptoms in burn patient. *Journal of Trauma* 60, 648-652 – cited by Christensen *et al.*, 2010.
- USEPA (1980) Ambient water quality criteria for silver.
- USEPA (2012) 2012 Edition of the Drinking Water Standards and Health Advisories. United States Environmental Protection Agency.

http://water.epa.gov/action/advisories/drinking/upload/dwstandards2012.pdf

- Valušová E, Vandžurová A, Pristaš P, Antalik M, Javorský P (2012) Water treatment using activated carbon supporting silver and magnetite. *Water Science and Technology* 66, 2772-2778.
- van der Zande M, Vandebriel RJ, van Doren E, Kramer E, Herrera Rivera Z, Serrano-Rojero CS, Gremmer ER, Mast J, Peters RJB, Hollman PCH, Hendriksen PJM, Marvin HJP, Peijnenburg AACM, Bouwmeester H (2012) Distribution, elimination and toxicity of silver nanoparticles and silver ions in rats after 28-day oral exposure. ACS Nano 6(8), 7427-7442.
- van Halem D, Heijman SGJ, Soppe AIA, van Dijk JC, Amy GL (2007) Ceramic silver-impregnated pot filters for household drinking-water treatment in developing countries: material characterization and performance study. *Water Science and Technology* 7, 9-17.
- Versantvoort CHM, Oomen AG, van de Kemp E, Rompelberg CJM, Sips AJAM (2005) Applicability of an in vitro digestion model in assessing the bioaccessibility of mycotoxins from food. *Food and Chemical Toxicology* 43, 31-40.
- Völker C, Oetken M, Oehlmann J (2013) The biological effects and possible modes of action of nanosilver. *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology* 223, 81-106.
- Wadhera A, Fung M (2005) Systemic argyria associated with ingestion of colloidal silver. Dermatology Online Journal 11 (1): 12.
- Walczak A, Fokkink R, Peters R, Tromp P, Herrera Rivera ZE, Rietjens IMCM, Hendriksen PJM, Bouwmeester H (2013) Behaviour of silver nanoparticles and silver ions in an in vitro human gastrointestinal digestion model. Nanotoxicology 7, 1198-1210.

- Wang Z, Qu G, Su L, Wang L, Yang Z, Jiang J, Liu S, Jiang G (2013a) Evaluation of the biological fate and the transport through biological barriers of nanosilver in mice. *Current Pharmaceutical Design*
- Wang Z, Liu S, Ma J, Qu G, Wang X, Yu S, He J, Liu J, Xia T, Jiang GB (2013b) Silver nanoparticles induced RNA polymerase-silver binding and RNA transcription inhibition in erythroid progenitor cells. ACS Nano 7, 4171-4186.
- WHO (1993) Silver. In: *Guidelines for drinking-water quality. Second edition. Volume 2. Health criteria and other supporting information*, p338-343. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- WHO (2002) Silver and silver compounds: environmental aspects. Concise International Chemical Assessment Document 44. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- WHO (2011) *Guidelines for drinking-water quality*. Fourth Edition. World Health Organization, Geneva.
- Wijnhoven SWP, Peijnenburg WJ, Herberts CA, Hagens WI, Oomen AG, Heugens E, Roszek B, Bisschops J, Gosens I, van de Meent D, Dekkers S, De Jong W, van Zijverden M, Sips A, Geertsma R (2009) Nano-silver – a review of available data and knowledge gaps in human and environmental risk assessment. *Nanotoxicology* 3(2), 109-138.
- Wubbels GH, Duran I, Willemse P (2008) Removal efficiency of silver impregnated ceramic filters. Report by Waterlaboratorium Noord.
- Xiu Z-M, Ma J, Alvarez PJJ (2011) Differential effect of common ligands and molecular oxygen on antimicrobial activity of silver nanoparticles versus silver ions. *Environmental Science & Technology* 45, 9003-9008.
- Xu F, Piett C, Farkas S, Qazzaz M, Syed NI (2013) Silver nanoparticles (AgNps) cause degeneration of cytoskeleton and disrupt synaptic machinery of cultured cortical neurons. *Molecular Brain* 6.
- Xue Y, Zhang S, Huang Y, Zhang T, Liu X, Hu Y, Zhang Z, Tang M (2012) Acute toxic effects and genderrelated biokinetics of silver nanoparticles following an intravenous injection in mice. *Journal of Applied Toxicology* 32, 890-899.
- Yayha MT, Landeen LK, Kutz SM, Gerba CP (1989) Swimming pool disinfection. An evaluation of the efficacy of copper:silver ions. *Journal of Environmental Health* 51, 282-285.
- Yayha MT, Landeen LK, Mesina MC, Kutz SM, Schultze R, Gerba CP (1990) Disinfection of bacteria in water systems by using electrolytically generated copper: silver and reduced levels of free chlorine. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 36, 109-116.
- Yayha MT, Straub TM, Gerba CP (1992) Inactivation of coliphage MS-2 and poliovirus by copper, silver and chlorine. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology* 38(5), 430-435.
- Yin N, Liu Q, Liu J, He B, Cui L, Li Z, Yun Z, Qu G, Liu S, Zhou Q, Jiang G (2013) Silver nanoparticle exposure attenuates the viability of rat cerebellum granule cells through apoptosis coupled to oxidative stress *Small* 9, 1831-1841.
- Zanette C, Pelin M, Crosera M, Adami G, Bovenzi M, Larese FF, Florio C (2011) Silver nanoparticles exert a long-lasting antiproliferative effect on human keratinoctye HaCaT cell line. *Toxicology in Vitro* 25, 1053-1060.
- Zhang H, Oyanedel-Craver V (2013) Comparison of the bacterial removal performance of silver nanoparticles and a polymer based quaternary amine functionalized silsesquioxane coated point-of-use ceramic water filters. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* 260, 272-277.
- Zhang S, Du C, Wang Z, Han X, Zhang K, Liu L (2013) Reduced cytotoxicity of silver ions to mammalian cells at high concentration due to the formation of silver chloride. *Toxicology in Vitro* 27, 739-744.

Appendix 1: Disinfectant mode of action

This short section outlines the disinfectant mode of action of silver ions and AgNP.

Silver ions are believed to impact on bacteria in a number of ways, including:

- extracellular binding or precipitation of silver to bacterial cell walls (Bellatone et al., 2002);
- the inhibition of essential enzymatic functions via interaction of the ions with the thiol-group (sulfhydryl group) of L-cysteine (Liau *et al.*, 1997);
- the production of reactive oxygen species (Park et al., 2009); and
- interaction with DNA (Thurman and Gerba, 1989).

Feng *et al.* (2000) conducted a mechanistic study of the antibacterial effect of silver ions on *E. coli* and *S. aureus*. Following treatment with silver nitrate, silver ions were detected inside the cells and both types of bacteria showed similar morphological changes, with the cytoplasmic membrane detaching from the cell wall. In addition, an electron-light region appeared in cells, with condensed DNA molecules within the centre of this region. DNA in a condensed form is unable to replicate.

Thurman and Gerba (1989) showed that silver binds to DNA, with the metal displacing the hydrogen bonds between adjacent nitrogens of purine and pyrimidine bases.

Dibrov *et al.* (2002) investigated the antimicrobial activity of silver ions on *Vibrio cholerae* and found that, at low concentrations of Ag+, massive proton leakage through the cell membrane could be observed, which resulted in complete de-energization and, probably, cell death.

In their study, Park *et al.* (2009) found that almost half of the log reduction, caused by the silver ion disinfection in the bacteria they studied (*Escherichia coli* and *Staphyococcus aureus*), could be attributed to reactive oxygen species (ROS) -mediated activity, with the major form of ROS generated being the superoxide radical. The authors comment that the silver ions are likely to generate superoxide radicals by impairing enzymes in the respiratory chain and that this impairment may be caused by the thiol-interaction mechanism (as mentioned above).

The antimicrobial mode of action of AgNP is not fully understood (Wijnhoven *et al.*, 2009), although some of the mechanisms may be the same as those for ionic silver or, as increasingly seems likely (e.g. Xiu *et al.*, 2012), may result from the release of Ag⁺ from the AgNP (Li *et al.*, 2008). A number of authors have shown that AgNP can anchor to and then penetrate the cell walls of Gram-negative bacteria (Sondi and Salopek-Sondi, 2004; Morones *et al.*, 2005). Such damaged cell walls enhance cell permeability and inhibit appropriate regulation of transport through the plasma membrane.

Sondi and Salopek-Sondi (2004) looked at the biocidal effect of AgNP on *E. coli* using both scanning and transmission electron microscopy. The bacteria were cultured in a liquid medium supplemented with AgNP (50 μ g/cm³) for four hours before electron microscopy. The silver-treated cells were significantly changed in comparison with untreated *E. coli* and showed major damage, which was characterized by the formation of pits in the cell walls. The analysis showed that the AgNP were incorporated into the cell walls and accumulated in the membrane, with some penetrating the cells. As a result, intracellular substances were found to be leaking from the affected bacteria.

As with ionic silver, it has been suggested that AgNP may cause free-radical generation, leading to subsequent cell damage. Kim *et al.* (2007) looked at the free-radical generation effect of AgNP on microbial growth inhibition using electron spin spectroscopy. The group showed that free-radicals were generated by the AgNP and that addition of an antioxidant reduced the bactericidal efficacy of the AgNP; they suggested that the free-radicals may be derived from the surface of the AgNP.

Shrivastava *et al.* (2007) studied the impact of AgNP on *E. coli, S. aureus* and *Salmonella typhus*. The AgNP were found to be more effective against the Gram-negative bacteria. The group found that the principal antimicrobial mechanisms were AgNP anchoring and penetration of the cell wall, along with modulation of cellular signalling (leading to growth inhibition).

Hwang *et al.* (2008) performed a study on stress-specific bioluminescent bacteria, based on which they proposed a synergistic toxic effect between the AgNP and the silver ions that they produce. The stress-specific bacterial strains used were designed to respond to protein/membrane, oxidative stress and DNA damage. They found that the AgNP caused toxicity via protein/membrane and oxidative damage. In their study the AgNP released silver ions and subsequently superoxide radicals.

References

- Bellatone M, Williams HD, Hench LL (2002) Broad-spectrum bactericidal activity of AgO₂-doped bioactive glass. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy* 46, 1940-1945.
- Dibrov P, Dzioba J, Gosink KK, Häse CC (2002) Chemiosmotic mechanism of antimicrobial activity of Ag+ in Vibrio cholerae. Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy 46, 2668-2670.
- Feng QL, Wu J, Chen GQ, Cui FZ, Kim TN, Kim JO (2000) A mechanistic study of the antibacterial effect of silver ions on *Escherichia coli* and *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Journal of Biomedical Materials Research* 52, 662-668.
- Hwang ET, Lee JH, Chae YJ, Kim YS, Kim BC, Sang B, Gu MB (2008) Analysis of the toxic mode of action of silver nanoparticles using stress-specific bioluminescent bacteria. *Small* 4, 746-750.
- Kim JS, Kuk E, Yu KN, Kim J-H, Park SJ, Lee HJ, Kim SH, Park YK, Park YH, Hwang C-Y, Kim K-W, Lee Y-S, Jeong DH, Cho M-H (2007) Antimicrobial effects of silver nanoparticles. *Nanomedicine: Nanotechnology, Biology and Medicine* 3, 95-101.
- Li Q, Mahendra S, Lyon DY, Brunet L, Liga MV, Li D, Alvarez PJJ (2008) Antimicrobial nanomaterials for water disinfection and microbial control: potential applications and implications. *Water Research* 42, 4591-4602.
- Liau SY, Read DC, Pugh WJ, Furr WJ, Russell AD (1997) Interaction of silver nitrate with readily identifiable groups: relationship to the antibacterial action of silver ions. *Letters in Applied Microbiology* 25, 279-283 cited by Park *et al.*, 2009.
- Morones JR, Elechiguerra JL, Camacho A, Holt K, Kouri JB, Ramirez JT, Yacaman MJ (2005) The bactericidal effect of silver nanoparticles. *Nanotechnology* 16(10), 2346-2353.
- Park HJ, Kim JY, Kim J, Lee JH, Hahn JH, Gu MB, Yoon J (2009) Silver-ion-mediated reactive oxygen species generation affecting bactericidal activity. *Water Research* 43, 1027-1032.
- Shrivastava S, Bera T, Roy A, Singh G, Ramachandrarao P, Dash D (2007) Characterization of enhanced antibacterial effects of novel silver nanoparticles. *Nanotechnology* 18, 225103.
- Sondi I, Salopek-Sondi B (2004) Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agent: A case study on *E. coli* as a model for Gram-negative bacteria. *Journal of Colloid Interface Science* 275, 177-182.
- Thurman RB, Gerba CP (1989) The molecular mechanisms of copper and silver ion disinfection of bacteria and viruses. *CRC Critical Reviews in Environmental Control* 18, 295-315.
- Wijnhoven SWP, Peijnenburg WJ, Herberts CA, Hagens WI, Oomen AG, Heugens E, Roszek B, Bisschops J, Gosens I, van de Meent D, Dekkers S, De Jong W, van Zijverden M, Sips A, Geertsma R (2009) Nano-silver – a review of available data and knowledge gaps in human and environmental risk assessment. *Nanotoxicology* 3(2), 109-138.
- Xiu Z, Zhang Q, Puppala HL, Colvin VL, Alvarez PJJ (2012) Negligible particle-specific antibacterial activity of silver nanoparticles. *Nano Letters* 12, 4271-4275.